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Berlie Monica, Gramercy

Century presently owns 615,000 metric tonnes per year (mtpy) of primary
aluminum capacity. The company owns and operates a 244,000 mtpy
plant at Hawesville, Kentucky; a 170,000 mtpy plant at Ravenswood, West
Virginia; and a 90,000 mtpy plant at Grundartangi, Iceland that is being
expanded to 212,000 mtpy. The company also owns a 49.67-percent
interest in a 222,000 mtpy reduction plant at Mt. Holly, South Carolina.
Alcoa Inc. owns the remainder of the plant and is the operating partner.
With the completion of the Grundartangi expansion, Century’s total
capacity will stand at 737,000 mtpy by late 2006.

Century also holds a 50-percent share of the 1.25 million mtpy Gramercy
Alumina refinery in Gramercy, Louisiana and related bauxite assets in

- > = 7! C,

alifor




Marking
our w
Pmress o

Ravenswood rolling
mill is not cost
competitive,

@@@t@ffy M@mm@m @@mp@@y was con= Innovative operating
celved as a small integrated aluminum plan reduces produc-

tion, withdraws

company - alumina, primary aluminum Century from the
can sheet market and
; @m@l r@lﬂed pr@dmm 3y tth@ time of fts focuses-themithon
{ : Century becomes high-value, specialty

publicly owned. products. A $28
Company lists on million project to
the NASDAQ market double heat-treated
with the symbol plate capacity is
CENX. launched.
C

1996
1997




Century

purchases

Glencore’s

20-percent share
of Hawesville

-plant. - -

Century’s annual
capacity rises by
48,000 mipy to
515,000 mrpy.

-~

Century purchases
Norduril ehf., which
owns a 90,000 mtpy
primary aluminum
plant in Iceland.
Century commences
expansion to 212,000
mtpy which is to be

completed by 2006.

Public is offered

9 million shares of
~common stock——

Century receives
proceeds of $209
million from the
offering.

Bauxite and
alumina assets
acquired.

Company successfully

- .-—bids, with Noranda. -}

Inc,, to acquire 1.25
million mtpy alumina
refinery in Louisiana
and related bauxite
mining assets in
Jamaica from Kaiser
Aluminum.

Domestic debt —4

is refinanced.
Century’s borrowing
rate is lowered

from 11.75%

to slightly over

%, extending -

creating greater

financial-flexibility.
Transaction reduces
interest expense by
$16 million a year
before taxes.

maturities and < i

Alumina unloadin,
Hawesville

r—

Primary
Aluminum
Capacity in
thousands of
metric tonnes

—‘:_7« s LI I S g S o 600

Y} 400

fffff —}- b o300

e — 3 . 200

e R NO | 100

P
Aluminum

billets,
Mt. Holly






Dear Shareholder:

2004 was an outstanding year for Century Aluminum. We
generated record earnings, grew financially stronger, larger and
more diverse and attained greater levels of operating efficiency.

Our progress was helped by healthy fundamentals for aluminum,
as global demand rose nine-percent and metal prices on the LME
rose 20-percent. As a result of this and our Nordural acquisition,

sales were a record $1.1 billion, while operating income grew to
a record $151.6 million, a five-fold increase over 2003.

We also took several steps to strengthen the company and
position Century for a more promising future.

Growth and Geographic Diversification

In April we acquired Norduril ehf., which operates a world-
class primary aluminum plant at Grundartangi, Iceland. This
increased our primary aluminum capacity by 90,000 metric
tonnes per year (mtpy) to 615,000 mtpy and further reduced

our average cost to produce primary aluminum. The acquisition
also adds geographic diversity to our asset base — a long-standing
corporate objective.

In May, we broke ground on an expansion to more than double
the capacity of the Grundartangi plant to 212,000 mtpy. The $454
million project will be completed by late-2006 and will further
reduce our average operating costs.

Recently concluded agreements to purchase additional power
could permit Norduril to expand the plant’s capacity to
220,000 mtpy by mid-2007 and to 260,000 mtpy by the end of
2008. Certain conditions remain to be satisfied with respect to
these agreements.

Sigurbjorg Ellen Ouesen,
Nordurdl

New potroom structure, Nordurdl
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tonnes per year. The $454 million expansion
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Orkuveita Revkjavikur and Hitaveita
Sudurnesja will generate all the electric
power for the Nordural expansion from
geothermal sources. The power will be
produced at relatively small plants that
minimize environmental disruption.
Shown here is the Nesjavellir power

plant operated by Orkuveita Revkjavikur.

Greater Financial Flexibility

In August, we refinanced our U. S. debt, which lowered the
company's borrowing rate from 11.75% to slightly more than 5%,
reducing our pre-tax interest expense by about $16 million a year.
The refinancing also extended debt maturities and created greater
financial flexibility for the company.

In February 2005, Nordurdl executed a new $365.0 million senior
term loan facility. Along with operating cash flow, the facility will
be used to finance the expansion. The expiring term loan was
also refinanced with this new facility.

Secured Alumina Supplies

We acquired a 50-percent share in an alumina refinery at Gramercy,
Louisiana and associated bauxite reserves in Jamaica. The action
was taken to secure critical, long-term supplies of alumina for our
reduction plant at Hawesville, Kentucky. Noranda Aluminum, our
partner in the venture, operates an aluminum reduction plant in
Missouri that also uses alumina produced at the refinery.

The Gramercy plant has the capacity to produce 1.25 million
metric tonnes (mt) of alumina a year. Century and Noranda

each purchase approximately 500,000 mt of the output annually
for their respective primary aluminum plants. The remaining
production is sold to third parties. These "upstream" assets were
purchased as part of the Kaiser Aluminum bankruptcy proceed-
ings. Century and Noranda each paid $11.5 million for a one-half
share of the assets.

Record Metal Production at Lower Unit Cost

Our four reduction plants met or exceeded their performance
goals. Total metal shipments rose to a record 1.32 billion pounds,




17—percent over the previous record of 1.13 billion pounds
shipped in 2003.

Increased metal production at lower unit cost reflects the
positive effects of the Nordurdl acquisition and the outstanding
work of our employees in raising production efficiencies and
controlling costs.

Certain cost increases, including higher power costs at Mt. Holly,
were largely beyond our control. Century was also impacted by
poor quality coke, the carbon material from which anodes for
the reduction process are made. We have successfully adapted
our anode-making processes to the lower-quality coke and
offset most of the adverse cost impact.

Forward Pricing Plan for Metal

In the robust markets of the fourth quarter of 2004, we agreed
to a significant hedge of our metal for the period from 2006
to 2010. A substantial portion of our capacity, though, remains
unhedged, allowing us to participate in stronger markets that
may OCCuUr.

The hedge is consistent with our strategy to remain cash flow
positive during inevitable downturns in our cyclical business,
while maintaining our ability to participate in market up-cycles.

In addition to the strong world demand and resulting favorable
prices for aluminum, our performance in 2004 also reflects the
steady progress we are making toward becoming a larger and

more cost competitive producer of primary aluminum.

Our successive steps toward that goal are described in the timeline
that appears on the inside front cover of this report.

Bill Morgan,
S aesville

Mike Kudijaroff, Gramercy



Shelly Lair, Monterey

U.S. Competitive Challenges

Our strategy is to grow our primary aluminum production
capacity, to lower our production costs and to expand upstream
into the bauxite and alumina segments of our industry.

Primary aluminum production in the United States has been
in steady decline. We want to continue to produce primary
aluminum domestically, but we face enormous cost pressures.
For our U.S. plants to remain viable, we must continue to
aggressively manage each of their cost elements.

This year’s report illustrates how our employees are performing
their jobs with great skill and pride. More than ever before our
employees recognize that we must compete in a global business
whose production base is shifting toward low-cost regions of
the world.

Special Recognitions

I wish to recognize the special contributions of Bill Hampshire,
who retired from our board of directors in 2004. His highly
respected knowledge of the aluminum industry and his sure-
handed management skills greatly benefited the company
during our transitional years.

Jack Thompson, former CEO of Homestake Mining Company,
has been elected to the board of directors. He brings extensive
business leadership to our board and a superb reputation within
the metals industry.

I would also like to recognize the support and diligence of
our directors, and the efforts of our small corporate staff and
the skilled outside advisors who worked together to complete
an extraordinary number of significant transactions. Their
workloads were large and their performance distinguished.




Allen Wells,
Hawesville

We have been especially pleased with Iceland’s business
environment, financial institutions, technological capabilities
and work ethic. We have awarded nearly all of the engineering
and construction work associated with our expansion there to
highly competent Icelandic firms.

We made significant progress in 2004 and the opportunities
ahead are encouraging. The worldwide use of aluminum in
transportation, packaging, electricity distribution, building and
construction and other key applications is increasing, and we
believe that this trend will continue.

We appreciate the continued support of our shareholders,
customers and the many others who contributed to our
successes in 2004.

Sincerely,

\

/

Craig A. Davis
Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer

May 2, 2005

Dagmar Atlanta Clothier, Nordurdl
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Torfi Gudmundsson,
Nordurdl

Supporting the company’s performance
in 2004 were thousands of daily efforts

to manage and operate the company
more competitively, efficiently and safely.
The skills, dedication and creative emthusiasm of our
employees have comtributed greatly to our success.
The following pages highlight a few of the mamny
outstanding efforts made during the year.

New Path to Current Efficiency

Greater energy efficiency is the goal of a
cross-functional team at the Hawesville

reduction plant. Attaining the goal could increase
metal production by up to 10 million pounds

a year. The team has targeted cell stability as

the path to greater efficiency. To achieve greater
stability, the team is focused on controlling liquid
level, bath chemistry and anode settings and
instituting a series of cell-care protocols. The team
is well along long toward raising efficiency by the
goal of two percentage points. Team members from
left: Don Shelman, Matt Powell, Eyv Richardson,
Bill Morgan, Mike Tanchuk and Allen Wells.

Not pictured: Craig Hall and Don Whitmore.

Restoring Anode Life

Anodes used in the primary aluminum process are
made of coke, a carbon by-product of refining
gasoline from crude oil. Changes in refining practices
to raise gasoline yields have reduced coke quality,
which in turn has reduced anode quality and raised
anode consumption. At Ravenswood, anode life was
shortened by eight-percent. Working with carbon
particle size and by adjusting the anode production
process and cell control, a Ravenswood team is
progressing toward restoring anode life to former
levels. Savings are expected to reach $3 million a
year. Team members from left are Rocky Stewart,
Steve Beha and Ralph Thompson.

11

Alumina plant,
Gramercy
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Reduced Repair Time

Various types and sizes of vehicles are integral, not just
supportive, to the primary aluminum process. The Ravenswood
plant, for instance, employs a fleet of 138 vehicles, ranging
from a golf-style cart to a 22-ton metal carrier.

In 2004, the Reduction Garage, which is responsible for maintaining the fleet,
installed an innovative and flexible hydraulic lift system that provides safe, easy
access to the underside of various sized vehicles. Purchasing the equipment
was the suggestion of Jeremy Coleman, garage mechanic, based on his military
experience. Maintenance savings are substantial. The new equipment, for
example, cuts the time to replace or repair a large transmission by two-thirds.
Reduction Garage employees at Ravenswood include Todd Smith, Bob Morgan
and Jeremy Coleman.

Bauxite Supplies Maintained

Bauxite loading equipment failed at Century’s jointly owned St. Ann port facility
in Jamaica in October 2004, shortly after it was acquired. The failure interrupted
bauxite shipments to the Gramercy refinery in Louisiana with the potential to
seriously limit production and restrict alumina supplies to
Century’s Hawesville reduction plant.

Alumina production was maintained at high levels, however,
due to rapidly completed temporary repairs to the conveyor
system. Crews worked around the clock to repair the damaged
conveyor. At the same time, the refinery received an increase

in supplemental supplies of bauxite from the Defense Logistics
Administration’s stockpile at the Gramercy refinery. Bauxite from
) the stockpile was dried and shipped at a rate of 5500 short tons
a day — twice the normal rate. Representing the bauxite supply team are Pete
Madera, Gary Caro, and Jelf Whitney.

High-Pressure Savings
Four high-pressure decanters at Century’s jointly owned Gramercy refinery are
used to separate various forms of alumina. This results in significant energy
savings from eliminating the need to heat the tr1hyd1ate stream, rep1e€entmo
about 75-percent of the decanter fee, to a —
monohydrate extraction temperature of 465° F.
On the Gramercy team are Patricia Landry,
Kenneth Hymel, and James Wilson.




Crucibles Come Clean at Hawesville

Refractory lined vessels called crucibles are the
mainstays for transporting molten aluminum during
the production process. The metal and accompanying
slag create an aggressive environment inside the
crucibles. The crucibles require regular maintenance
to remove excess metal and slag and to perform
safety checks on the liner material.

The cleaning/inspection process for crucibles has
been mechanized at Hawesville Operations using
a device purchased from a shuttered reduction plant. The nearly new “cruce
cleaner” was reconditioned and updated by its original manufacturer. The cleaner
eliminates the strenuous aspects of the maintenance process and reduces crucible
downtime. Team members from left are: John Beaver, Mike Tanchuk, Franklin
Dupree, Jason McCarty and Paul Goodall.

Alumina Sized Riglht

Alumina crystals can vary in particle strength.
During handling, the crystal may be fractured,
increasing the amount “fine” alumina that causes
handling problems and adversely affects metal
production in the reduction cells.

Century’s jointly owned Gramercy refinery has
completed an extensive precipitation review that

has reduced fracture rates by more than 30-percent. Representing the precipitator
team are from left: Allen Dennis, Berlie Monica, Mike Kudijaroff, and Sal Denova.

Norduril Furnaces Switch to Electric Power

Century’s Nordurdl unit converted the energy source for heating one of two
60-metric tonne holding furnaces in its casthouse from imported oil to electricity.
The electrically heated furnace reduces workstation noise levels and operates
more efficiently by substantially reducing slag formation.

Energy cost savings are about $150,000 a year, producing a 24-month payback
on the cost of conversion. Norduril plans to convert the existing second holding
furnace to electric heat. The holding furnaces being installed as part of its current
expansion project also will use electricity.
Freysteinn Barkarson in the Nordurdl casthouse. @

13
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Value Added Metal
Century has developed an economical, yet precise process for producing a value-
added, silicon-based alloy at its Ravenswood casthouse. The alloy commands a
price premium over commodity grade metal and is winning market acceptance in
several key applications, such as aluminum-clad steel used in truck muftlers and
culvert. Sales are approaching a rate of nearly 5-million pounds a year and the
outlook for added growth is positive.

Powerhouse Safety

The 17-employees who staff the powerhouse at Century’s jointly
owned Gramercy refinery completed three years of work without
a single injury. Representing the staff here are Kenneth Butler and
Mark Brignac.

Personal Care for Tsunami Relief

Century Aluminum of West Virginia and Local 5668 of the United
Steelworkers of America joined together to supply needed relief to
Tsunami survivors. Local families and their neighbors and friends
at the Ravenswood Operations collected and packaged nearly
3,500 “Gift of the Heart” personal care kits for the survivors.
Containing such daily essentials as toothpaste, soap and towels,
the kits, and other needed items, are being distributed through the
World Church Service into an area stretching from Indonesia to
East Africa. The Ravenswood relief effort was staged in the plant
storeroom. Representing the hundreds of local participants and
supporters are from left: Denise Miller, storeroom cttendant, Kim
Butler, financial accountant with daughters Kaylin and Ireland,
Christine Dowdy; Clarence Deel, millwright; and Jim Dowdy,
electrical engineer, with son james.

Nordurdl Technical Paper Judged Best

A technical paper describing operating improvements at Nordurdl received “Best
Paper Award” at the International Aluminium Smelting Technology and Workshop
in Queensland, Australia. Based on the operating efficiencies reported in the
paper, Nordurdl now ranks among the top 10 smelters in the world in reducing
the operating costs through improved employee health and safety performance,
reduced energy and carbon consumption, and fewer anode effects which are the
source carbon compound emissions. Willy Kristensen, production manager, who
is pictured below, presented the paper. The paper was co-authored by Oskar
Jonsson, technology manager and Gauli Hoskuldsson, potroom engineer.

14




Charlotte Hooker,
Gramercy

Hawesville Exceeds Goal on Global Warming Gases

Century’s Hawesville Operations reduced emissions of per-fluorinated carbon
global warming gases by 69-percent in 2004. The reduction exceeded the plant’s
goal of 50-percent by 2005, as pledged under a voluntary program by the U. S.
aluminum industry.

The emissions are mainly the result of “anode effects” that occur when alumina
concentrations in reduction cells are low. A capital project to rewrite the system
for controlling cells receives major credit for the steep reduction. The new system
reads and responds to anode effects more rapidly than the old system. The result
is a reduction in the number and duration of the anode effects.

Nancy Casto, Ravenswood

Since the voluntary program’s base year of 1990, the Kentucky plant has reduced
its emissions of global warming gases by 30.5 mt.

Gramercy Emergency Response Team

An all-volunteer team of two paramedics, three emergency technicians and 27 first
responders was formed at Century’s jointly owned Gramercy refinery. Team mem-
bers are trained and certified and provide first response coverage for each shift.

New Power Contract for Ravenswood

In early 2005 Century Aluminum of West Virginia concluded an agreement under
which Appalachian Power Company will supply electric power to its Ravenswood
reduction plant. The agreement is effective January 1, 20006. It will have an initial
term of two years and will continue until Century gives 12 months notice of can-
cellation. In a period of rising energy costs, the company was able to contract for
electricity at a rate substantially similar to the expiring contract with Ohio Power.
Appalachian Power and Ohio Power are units of American Electric Power Company.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion reflects the Company’s historical
results of operations, which do not include results from:

(1) the Company’s 80% interest in the Hawesville facility until
acquired in April 2001, (2) the remaining 20% interest in

the Hawesville facility until acquired in April 2003, (3) the
Company’s ownership of Nordural until acquired in late
April 2004 and (4) the Company’s ownership interest in the
Gramercy assets until acquired in October 2004. Accordingly,
the results for fiscal years 2002 and 2003 are not fully
comparable to the results of operations for fiscal year 2004.
Historical results are not indicative of the Company’s current
business. You should read the following discussion in con-
junction with the Company’s consolidated financial state-
ments included elsewhere in this filing. ’

Overview

The Company produces primary aluminum. The aluminum
industry is cyclical and the price of primary aluminum (which
trades as a commodity) is determined by global supply and
demand. The key determinants of the Company’s results of
operations and cash flow from operations are as follows:

¢ The Company’s selling price is based on the LME
price of primary aluminum and fixed price sales contracts.

* The Company’s plants operate at or near capacity, and
fluctuations in volume, other than through acquisitions,
generally are small.

¢ The principal components of cost of goods sold are
alumina, power and labor, which were in excess of 70%
of the 2004 cost of goods sold. Many of these costs are
covered by long-term contracts as described below.

Average realized price and cost of goods sold per pound
shipped are key performance indicators. Revenue varies
significantly from period to period due to fluctuations in the
LME price of aluminum. Any adverse changes in the condi-
tions that affect the market price of primary aluminum could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations and cash flows. Revenue is also impacted by the
Company’s hedging activities. Working capital is relatively
stable. Fluctuations in working capital are influenced by the
LME price of primary aluminum and by the timing of cash
receipts and disbursements from major customers and
suppliers.

Cost of goods sold, excluding alumina, is expected to remain
relatively stable because the Company’s plants operate near
capacity and its major cost drivers are covered by long-term

January 1, 2006. Power usage is expected to be consistent

contracts. Fluctuations in the cost of alumina are expected

as the pricing in these contracts, except for the Gramercy
alumina contract, is variable and based on LME prices. Power
contracts for U.S. facilities provide for primarily fixed priced
power through 2005, subject to adjustments for fuel costs for Y
Mt. Holly. On February 18, 2005, Century of West Virginia J
signed an agreement with Appalachian Power Company for =
the supply of electricity to the Ravenswood facility beginning -

with prior periods. Labor costs should be consistent with
modest increases for negotiated salary and benefit increases. |

Through the Company’s ownership of the Ravenswood,
Hawesville and Nordural facilities, and the Company’s owner-
ship interest in the Mt. Holly facility, the Company has an
annual production capacity of approximately 1.4 billion
pounds of primary aluminum.

Recent Developments

Nordural’s New Term Loan Facility

On February 10, 20035, Nordural executed a loan agreement
and other agreements and documents related to a new
$365.0 million senior term loan facility arranged by
Landsbanki Islands hf. and Kaupthing Bank hf. The term loan
facility closed and funded on February 15, 2005. Amounts
borrowed under the new term loan facility refinanced debt
under Nordural’s prior term loan facility, and will be used to
finance a portion of the costs associated with the ongoing
expansion of the Nordural facility and for Nordural’s general
corporate purposes. Borrowings are subject to customary
conditions, including the absence of any default under the
loan agreement or any material adverse change in Nordural’s

condition (financial or otherwise), business, operations,
assets, liabilities or prospects.

The Gramercy Acquisition
On October 1, 2004, the Company and Noranda Finance

Inc., through 50/50 joint venture companies, acquired an
alumina refinery in Gramercy, Louisiana and related bauxite
mining assets in Jamaica (collectively, the “Gramercy
assets”) from Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Company

(the “Gramercy acquisition.”). The purchase price for the
Gramercy assets was approximately $23 million, subject to
working capital adjustments. The Company and Noranda
each paid one-half, or $11.5 million of the unadjusted pur-
chase price. Kaiser sold the Gramercy assets as part of its
reorganization to emerge from Chapter 11 bankruptcy.
Gramercy has an annual production capacity of 1.2 million
metric tons of alumina, approximately 80% of which is sup-
plied to the Hawesville facility and to a primary aluminum
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production facility separately owned by Noranda. The
Hawesville facility purchases virtually all of its alumina
requirements from Gramercy.

In October 2004, certain bauxite loading equipment used by
the bauxite mining partnership at its St. Ann, Jamaica port
facility failed, resulting in a temporary interruption of bauxite
shipments from the facility. The St. Ann port facility, which is
used to ship bauxite to the Gramercy alumina facility and to
other customers, operated at a reduced shipping level until
tull operations resumed in December 2004.

Post-Acquisition Operation of the Gramercy assets
Alumina is the principal raw material used in the produc-
tion of primary aluminum. The Company acquired its share
of the Gramercy assets to ensure a stable supply of alumina
to the Company’s primary aluminum production facilities at
acceptable costs and to avoid the risk of significant cost
increases if the Company was required to replace this
source of supply in the current high priced and volartile
spot alumina market.

Prior to the acquisition, the Gramercy assets were operated
by Kaiser as a non-autonomous part of Kaiser's business.
The dominant portion of the revenues from these opera-
tions was derived from alumina sales to Century and to
Noranda. Following the acquisition, the Company uses its
share of the Gramercy assets as a source of alumina for its
Hawesville facility. Third party CGA and bauxite sales are
incidental and, standing alone, are not significant and will
be maintained only to optimize fixed costs. Further, Century
and Noranda have assumed certain essential management
and business functions previously provided by Kaiser.
Accordingly, there is a lack of continuity between pre- and
post-acquisition revenue-producing activity and the manner
in which essential management and business functions are
handled. In addition, Kaiser did not maintain separate finan-
cial statements for the operations that comprise the
Gramercy assets. Based on the foregoing, the Company
believes that disclosure of historical financial information
relating to the Gramercy assets would not be material to

an understanding of the Company’s future operations.

The 2004 Refinancing

On August 26, 2004, the Company announced the
Company's repurchase of approximately $315.1 million in
aggregate principal amount of the Company’s 11.75% senior
secured first mortgage notes due 2008 that were validly
tendered pursuant to a tender offer and consent solicitation
commenced on July 29, 2004. Under the terms of the tender
offer, the Company paid $1.096.86 for each $1,000 principal
amount of first mortgage notes purchased in the tender offer,
plus accrued and unpaid interest. Holders who tendered their
notes prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on August 6,
2004, received an additional payment of $20.00 per $1.000
of principal amount of first mortgage notes tendered.

The primary purpose of the tender offer and consent solicita-
tion was 10 refinance $325.0 million of the Company’s out-
standing first mortgage notes with debt bearing « lower inter-
est rate, thereby reducing the Company's annual interest
expense. Approximately $9.9 million in aggregate principal
amount of first mortgage notes remain outstanding following
the tender offer and are scheduled to murture on April 13,
2008. In connection with the tender offer and consent solici-
tation, the Company received consents needed to amend the
indenture governing the remaining first mortgage notes o
eliminate substantially all restrictive covenants and certain
default provisions. The Company has provided the trustee
under the indenture notice of its intent to call for redemption
all outstanding first mortgage notes on or about April 15.
200s.

The Company financed the tender offer and consent solicita-
tion with a portion of the net proceeds from (i) the private
placement of $175.0 million aggregate principal amount of
the Company’s 1.75% convertible senior notes due August 1.
2024, and Gi) the private placement of $230.0 million aggre-
gate principal amount of the Company’s 7.5% senior notes
due August 15, 2014, The Company used the remaining pro-
ceeds from the sale of the Company’'s convertible notes and
senior notes for general corporate purposes.

The Nordural Acquisition and Expansion

On April 27, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition
of all of the outstunding equity shares of Nordural ht.

(now known as Nordural ehf.) from Columbia Ventures
Corporation. Nordural is an Icelandic compuny that owns
and operates the Nordural facility, a primary aluminum
recduction facility located in Grundartangi. Iceland. Built in
1998, the Nordural facility is the Compuany’s most recently
constructed and lowest cost facility. Tt currently has an annu-
al production capacity of approximately 198 million pounds.

Since the acquisition, the Company has commenced work on
an expansion of the Nordural facility to increase its annual
production capacity to approximately 467 million pounds, or
more than double its current annual production capacity. As
currently planned, the expansion will add up to 269 million
pounds to the Nordural facility’s annual production capacity.
The expansion is projected o be completed by late 2006 and

is expected to cost approximarely $434 million.

In connection with the expansion, the Company agreed on
the terms of amendments to several long-term contracts with
the Government of Iceland, local municipalities and the
Grundartangi Harbour Fund, which were effective upon the
closing of Nordural’s new term louan fucility. The Compuany
agreed to an LME-based ten-vear alumina tolling contract
with Glencore for 198 million pounds of the expansion
capacity. The power needed for the expansion capacity will
be purchased under a long-term LME-based agreement with
Sudurnes Energyv and Revkjavik Energy. The Company's




new energy agreement includes power for approximately
18 million pounds of additional capacity, upon satisfaction
of certain conditions, including the completion of a power
transmission agreement. With the additional 18 million
pounds of capacity, the total annual production capacity of
the Nordural facility would increase to 485 million pounds by
late 2006. A decision on the additional 18 million pounds of
capacity is expected in early 2005. Following completion of
the expansion, Nordural will have all the infrastructure and
support facilities necessary for further expansion to 573 mil-
lion pounds of annual production capacity. This expansion
would be made at relatively low capital cost. The Company
is in discussions for the supply of electric power to support
this further expansion. '

Key Long-Term Primary

Aluminum Sales Contracts

The Company routinely enters into market priced contracts
for the sale of primary aluminum. A summary of Century’s
long-term primary aluminum sales contracts is provided
below.

Apart from the Pechiney Metal Agreement, New Sales
Contract, the Glencore Metal Agreement and Southwire Metal
Agreement, the Company had forward delivery contracts

to sell 249.4 million pounds and 351.8 million pounds of
primary aluminum at December 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, respectively. Of these forward delivery contracts, the
Company had fixed price commitments to sell 13.3 million
pounds and 70.5 million pounds of primary aluminum at
December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively, of
which none at December 31, 2004 and 53.5 million pounds
December 31, 2003, were with Glencore.

Key Long-Term Supply Agreements

Alumina Supply Agreements

The Company is party to long-term supply agreements with
Glencore that supply a fixed quantity of alumina to the
Company’s Ravenswood and Mt. Holly facilities at prices
indexed to the price of primary aluminum quoted on the
LME. In addition, as part of the Gramercy acquisition, the
Company entered into a long-term supply agreement on
November 2, 2004 with Gramercy Alumina LLC that supplies
a fixed quantity of alumina to the Company’s Hawesville
facility at prices based on the alumina production costs at
the Gramercy refinery. A summary of these agreements is
provided below. The Company’s Nordural facility toll con-
verts alumina provided by BHP Billiton, and will toll convert
alumina provided by Glencore beginning in 2006. .

Facility Supplier Term Pricing

Ravenswood Glencore  Through Variable,
December 31, 2006 LME-based

Mt. Holly Glencore  Through Variable,
December 31, 2006 LME-based
(54% of requirement)

Mt. Holly Glencore Through Variable,
January 31, 2008 LME-based
(46% of requirement)

Hawesville Gramercy  Through Cost-based

Alumina®  December 31, 2010

(1) The alumina supply agreement with Gramercy Alumina LLC, which was entered into on
November 2. 2004, replaced the Company’s alumina supply agreement with Kaiser.

Contract Customer Volume ~ Term Pricing

Pechiney Metal Agreement Pechiney 276 to 324 million Through December 31, 20050 Variable, based on
pounds per year U.S. Midwest market

New Sales Contract Glencore 110 million pounds January 2005 through Variable, LME-based
per year December 31, 2009

Glencore Metal Agreement Glencore 45 million pounds January 2004 through Variable, based on
per year December 31, 2013 U.S. Midwest market

Southwire Metal Agreement Southwire 240 million pounds per Through March 31, 2011 Variable, based on

year Chigh purity molten
aluminum)

60 million pounds per
vear (standard-grade
molten aluminum)

Through December 31, 2008

U.S. Midwest market

Variable, based on
U.S. Midwest market

Billiton Tolling Agreement 2

BHP Billiton

198 million pounds

Through December 31, 2013

Variable, LME-based

Glencore Tolling Agreement

Glencore

198 miillion pounds

Through July 2016

Variable, LME-based

(1) The Pechiney Metal Agreement will be automaticaily extended through July 31, 2007. if the Company extends its Ravenswood power contract through that date. On Fehruary 18, 2005,
Century of West Virginia signed an agreement with Appalachian Power Company for the supply of electricity to the Ravenswood facility beginning January 1, 2006. See Item 1,

"Business — Facilities and Production — Ravenswood Facility,"

~
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Substantially all of Nordural's sales consist of tolling revenues earned under a long-term Alumina Supply, Toll Conversion and Aluminum Metal Supply Agreement between Nordural and

a subsidiary of BHP Billiton Lid. (the "Billiton Tolling Agreement”). Under the Billiton Tolling Agreement, which is for virtually all of Nordural's existing production capacity, Nordural
receives an LME-based fee for the conversion of alumina, supplied by BHP Billiton, into primary aluminum. The Company acquired Nordural in April 2004.
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As of August 1, 2004, the Company entered into a ten-year LME

the agreement will begin upon completion of the expansion, which is expected 1o be in lare-2006.

hased alumina tolling agreement for 198 million pounds of the expansion capacity at the Nordural facility. The term of
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Electrical Power Supply Agreements

The Company uses significant amounts of electricity in the
aluminum producticn process. A summary of these power
supply agreements is provided below.

Pricing

Facility Supplier Term

Ravenswood?  Ohio Power  Through Fixed price

Company December 31,
2005
Mt. Holly Santee Through Fixed price,
Cooper December 31, with fuel cost
2015 adljustment
clause through
2010; subject
0 a new
fixed price
schedule
after 2010
Hawesville Kenergy Through Fixed price
December 31, through 20053,
2010 27% (or 121
MW) unpriced
2006 though
, 2010
Nordural® Landsvirkjun  Through 2019 Variable rate

based on the
LME price
for primary

aluminum.

(1) On February 18. 2005, Century of West Virginia signed an agreement with Appalachian
Power Company for the supply of electricity 10 the Ravenswood fucility beginning
January 1. 2006. The agreement hus an initial term of two vears and continues thereatter
Century gives 12 months’ notice of cancellation. Appalachian Power has filed a petition
with the Public Services Commission of West Virginia ¢ PS¢
authorization to provide service to the Ravenswood facility. In 2000, the PSC found

0 seeking affiomation of its
that the Ravenswood facility was in Appulachian Power’s service termory and had
jurisdiction over the provision of service. The agreement will become eftective unless
the PSC fails to affirm its previous findings. Power under the new agreement is priced
undler an Appalachian Power tarift

(2) In connection with the expuansion of the Nordural facility, the Company has entered

inter contracts with Sudurnes Energy and Revkjavik Energy for the supply of the power

required for 269 million pounds of the expansion cupacity at the Nordural facility, The
Company may purchase additional electri

support the further expansion of the Tucility. The rate for the power supplied under

I power under one of those contracts Lo

both contracts will also e EME-based
Labor Agreemenmnts

The Company’s labor costs at the Ravenswood and
Hawesville facilities are subject to the terms of labor con-
tracts which generally have provisions for annual fixed
increases in hourly wages and benefits adjustments. The six
national labor unions represented at the Nordural facility
operate under a labor contract that establishes wages and
work rules for covered employees. The employees at the Mt.
Holly facility are emploved by Alcoa and are not unionized.
The two national labor unions represented at the Jamaican
bauxite mining operations operate under labor contracts that
establish wages and work rules for covered employees on a

plant specific basis. A summary of key labor agreements is
provided below.

Facilily Organization Term

USWA Through Mayv 31. 2006

Ravenswood

Hawesville USWA Through March 31. 2006

Mt. Holly Not unionized Not Applicable -

Nordural Teelandic labor Through December 31,
unions 20041

Gramercy USWA Through September 30,

2005

Jamaica Jamaican lubor Through December 31.
unions 2004(2)

(11 The current labor contract at the Nordural facility expired on December 21 20004

A new contrict is expected 1o he serled in 2005

(23 "The labor contracts at the Jamaican bausite operition expired on December AF 20604
with respect 1o unianized hourly cmplovees. and December 310 2003 with respedt 1o

unionized salaried cmployees. New contracts are expected 1o be setted in 2005

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’'s significant accounting policies dare discussed
in Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements. The prepa-
ration of the financial statements requires that management
make subjective estimates, assumptions and judgments in
applying these accounting policies. Those judgments are nor-
mally bused on knowledge and experience about puast and
current events and on assumptions about future events.
Critical accounting estimates require management to make
assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the
time of the estimate and a change in these estimates may
have a material impact on the presentation of the Company’s
financial position or results of operations. Significant judg-
ments and estimates made by the Company include expenses
and liabilities related to pensions and other postemplovment
benefits and forward delivery contracts und financial instru-

ments.
Pension and Other Postemployment Benefit Liabilities

The Company sponsors various pension plans and also par-
ticipates in a union sponsored multi-employer pension plan
for the collective hargaining unit emplovees at the Huwesville
facility. The labilities and annual income or expense of the
Company's pension and other postemployment benefit plans
are determined using methodologies that involve several
actuarial assumptions, the most significant of which are the

discount rate and the long-term rate of asscr return,

In developing its expected long-term rate of return assump-
tion for pension fund assets, the Company evaluated input
from its actuaries. including their review of asset cluss return
expectations as well as long-term inflation assumptions.
Projected returns are based on historical returns of broad
equity and bond indices. The Company also considered its
historical 10-year compound returns. Century anticipates that
the Company’s investments will generate long-term rites of




return of 9.0%. The Company’s expected long-term rate of
return is based on an assumed asset allocation of 65% equity
funds and 35% fixed-income funds.

The discount rate that the Company utilizes for determining
future pension and post employment obligations is based on
a review of long-term bonds that receive one of the two
highest ratings given by a recognized rating agency. The dis-
count rate determined on this basis has decreased to 5.75%
at December 31, 2004 from 6.25% and 6.5% at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Lowering the expected long-term rate of return by 0.5%
(from 9.0% to 8.5%) would have increased the Company’s
pension expense for the year ended December 31, 2004 by
approximately $0.3 million. Lowering the discount rate
assumptions by 0.5% would have increased the Company’s
pension expense for the year ended December 31, 2004 by
approximately $0.4 million.

The Company provides postemployment benefit plans that
provide health care and life insurance benefits for substantial-
ly all retired emplovees. SFAS No. 106 requires the Company
to accrue the estimated cost of providing postretirement ben-
efits during the working careers of those employees who
could become eligible for such benefits when they retire. The
Company funds these benefits as the retirees submit claims,

Measurement of the Company's postretirement benefit obliga-
tions requires the use of several assumptions about factors
that will affect the amount and timing of future benefit pay-
ments. The assumed health care cost trend rates are the most
critical assumptions for measurement of the postretirement
benefits obligation. Changes in the health care cost trend
rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for
the health care benefit obligations.

The Company assumes medical inflation is initially 9%,
declining to 3% over six years and thereafter. A one-percent-
age-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates
would have the following effects in 2004:

One One

Percentage Percentage

Point Point

(In thousands) Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service

and interest cost components $ 2241 $ (1,761

Effect on accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation $ 27,101 § (21,511)

Forward Delivery Contracts and Financial Instruments

The Company routinely enters into market priced physical
and fixed-priced financial contracts for the sale of primary
aluminum and the purchase of raw materials in future peri-

ods. The Company applies the provisions of SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, as amended,” in accounting for these types of
contracts. For those physical delivery contracts which man-
agement believes are probable of future delivery, such con-
tracts are classified as normal purchases and normal sales
and are not accounted for as derivatives.

The aluminum-based financial and physical delivery
contracts that are derivatives, as provided for in current
accounting standards, are marked-to-market using the LME
spot and forward market for primary aluminum. Because
there is no quoted futures market price for the U.S.
Midwest premium component of the market price for pri-
mary aluminum, it is necessary for management to esti-
mate the U.S. Midwest premium. Fluctuations in the LME
price of primary aluminum have a significant impact on
gains and losses included in the Company’s financial state-
ments from period to period. Unrealized gains and losses
are either included in Other comprehensive income (loss)
or Net gain (loss) on forward contracts, depending on
criteria as provided for in the accounting standards.

The forward natural gas purchase contracts are marked-to-
market using the NYMEX spot and forward market for
natural gas. Fluctuations in the NYMEX price of natural
gas can have a significant impact on gains and losses
included in the Company’s financial statements from peri-
od 1o period. The Company has designated these forward
contracts as cash flow hedges for forecasted natural gas
transactions in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No.
133 (as amended). The Company assesses the effectiveness
of these cash flow hedges quarterly. The effective portion
of the gains and losses are recorded in Other comprehen-
sive income (loss) and subsequently reclassified into
earnings when the forecasted transaction affects earnings.
The ineffective portion of the gain or loss is reported in
earnings immediately.

The principal contracts affected by these standards and the
resulting effects on the financial statements are described
in the consolidated financial statements and related notes
thereto.

Results of Operations

The table on the following page sets forth, for the years
indicated, the percentage relationship to net sales of certain
items included in the Company’s Statements of Operations,
The following table includes the results from the Company’s
additional 20% interest in the Hawesville facility since its
acquisition in April 2003, the results from the Company’s
purchase of the Nordural facility since its acquisition in April
2004 and the results from the Company’s interest in the
Gramercy assets since its acquisition in October 2004.
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Results of Operations

Percentage of Net Scales

2004 2003 2002

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold (83.4) (93.9) (97.2)

Gross profit 16.6 6.1 2.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses (2.3 (2.6 (2.2)

Operating income 14.3 3.5 0.6
Interest expense (3.8) (5.6 (5.7)
Interest income 0.1 0.1 0.1
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (4.3) — —
Other expense (0.2) (0.1 (0.3)
Net gain (loss) on forward contracts (2.0) 3.3 —
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest,

equity in earnings of joint venture and cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle 3.9 1.2 (3.3)
Income tax benefit (expense) (1.4) (0.4) 2.0
Income (loss) before minority interest, equity in

earnings of joint venture and cumulative effect

of accounting change 25 0.8 (3.3)
Minority interest — 0.1 0.7
Equity in earnings of joint venture 0.1 — —
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change

in accounting principle 2.6 0.9 (2.0)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (0.8
Net income (Joss) 2.6% 0.1% (2.60%
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the pounds and the average sales price per pound shipped:

Printcry Alumintm
Direct Toll

(Pounds in thousands) Poitnds SPound Poutnds S/ Pound
2004
First Quarter 296,743 S 078 — S —
Second Quarter? 294,816 0.82 35.600 0.60
Third Quarter 292,978 083 51.218 0.60
Fourth Quarter 295,287 0.87 51,421 0.64

Total 1,179,824 S 083 138,239 S 0062
2003
First Quarter 257.040 S 070 — —
Second QuarterD 290,023 0.68 — —
Third Quarter 292,367 0.69 — —
Fourth Quarter 286,912 0.72 — —

Total 1,126,542 S 069 — —
2002
First Quarter 263,019 5 0.68 — —
Second Quarter 262,470 0.69 — —
Third Quarter 262,262 0.67 — —
Fourth Quarter 201,544 0.67 — —

Total 1.049.295 S 0.68 — e

(1) The mble includes the results from the Company’s additional 20% interest in the Hawesville facility since its acquisition in Apri) 2003

(2) The table includes the results from the Company's purchase of the Nordural facility since its acquisition in April 2004.




Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared
to Year Ended December 31, 2003

Net sales Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2004
increased $278.3 million or 36% to $1,061 million. Higher
price realizations for primary aluminum in 2004, due to an
improved LME price and Midwest premium for primary
aluminum, contributed an additional $155.4 million in sales.
Shipment volume increased 191.5 million pounds, primarily
associated with the Nordural facility acquisition beginning

in late April 2004 and the additional 20% interest in the
Hawesville facility beginning in April 2003. Tolling revenues
from the Nordural facility acquisition contributed an additional
$85.4 million in net sales. The remaining $37.5 million increase
was associated with increased direct shipment volumes.

Gross profit For the year ended December 31, 2004, gross
profit improved $128.4 million to $176.5 million. Improved
price realizarions net of increased alumina costs improved
gross profit by $112.6 million with increased shipment vol-
ume, primarily a result of the Nordural facility acquisition in
April 2004 and the additional 20% interest in the Hawesville
facility beginning in April 2003, contributing $36.8 million

in additional gross profit. Offsetting these gains were
increased power costs due to lower efficiencies and price,
$7.7 million; reduced credits to cost of goods sold for lower-
of-cost or market adjustments, $5.2 million; raw material
quality issues, $4.6 million; and costs associated with the
replacement of pot cells and its effect on operational
performance, $3.5 million.

Selling, general and administrative expenses Selling,
general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2004 increased $4.1 million from the same
period in 2003. The increase was primarily a result of-
incentive compensation expense accruals and increased
fees associated with Sarbanes Oxley Section 404 compliance
work during the year.

Interest expense, net: Interest expense during the year
ended December 31, 2004 declined $4.3 million to $39.2

million. The change in interest expense was a direct result
of the Company’s refinancing activities in the current year.

Net gain/loss on forward contracts For the year ended
December 31, 2004, net loss on forward contracts was $21.5
million as compared to a net gain on forward contracts of
$25.7 million for the same period in 2003. The loss and

gain reported for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2003, respectively, primarily relate to the early
termination in 2003 of a fixed price forward sales contract
with Glencore and the improved LME price and Midwest
premium for primary aluminum in the current period.

Loss on early extinguishment of debt For the year
ended December 31, 2004, the Company recorded a loss on

early extinguishment of debt of $47.4 million for the one-
time cost of tendering for the $325.0 million in first mortgage
notes. ‘

Tax provision Income tax expense for the year ended
December 31, 2004 increased $12.1 million due to the
changes in income before income taxes discussed above.

Equity in earnings of joint venture: Equity in earnings
from the Gramercy assets, which were acquired on October
1, 2004, was $0.8 million in the current period.

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared
to Year Ended December 31, 2002

Net sales Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2003
increased $71.1 million or 10.0% to $782.5 million. Increased
shipment volume of 77.2 million pounds in 2003, primarily
associated with the additional 20% interest in the Hawesville
facility beginning in April 2003, accounted for $52.4 million
of the increase. Higher price realizations for primary alu-
minum in 2003 due 1o an improved LME price for primary
aluminum contributed an additional $18.8 million in sales.

Gross profit Gross profit for the year ended December 31,
2003 increased $28.0 million or 139.5% to $48.0 million from
$20.1 million for the same period in 2002. Increased ship-
ments, primarily from the additional 20% interest in the
Hawesville facility beginning in April 2003, improved gross
profit by $3.7 million. The remaining $22.3 million improve-
ment in gross profit was a result of lower depreciation and
amortization charges, $5.4 million, primarily due to lower
amortization charges related to the intangible asset, see
Note 1 to the “Consolidated Financial Statements,” reduced
charges to cost of goods sold for lower-of-cost or market
inventory adjustments, $7.3 million, and improved price
realizations net of increased alumina costs, $10.2 million,
other net benefits of $1.0 million, partially offset a charge
for the excess cost of spot alumina purchases of $1.6 million
due to a production curtailment at a supplier’s production
facility.

Selling, general and administrative expenses Selling,
general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2003 increased $5.1 million to $20.8 million.
The increase was primarily a result of a $3.1 million charge
related to an executive resignation in 2003. The remaining
increase of $2.0 million was a result of increased incentive
compensation associated with improved 2003 financial and
operational results.

Interest Expense Interest expense during the year ended
December 31, 2003 increased $3.0 million or 7.4% to $43.8
million. The change in interest expense was primarily a result
of related party interest expense of $2.6 million associated
with the Glencore Note.
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Other Income/Expense Other Expense for the vear ended
December 31, 2003 declined by $1.2 million primarily due to
a write-off in 2002 of $1.7 million in deferred costs associated
with a prospective acquisition.
Net Gain on Forward Contracts Net Gain on Forward
Contracts for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $25.7
million with no gain or loss reported for the same period
in 2002. The gain recorded in 2003 primarily relates to the
early termination of a fixed price forward sales contract
with Glencofte.

Tax Provision/Benefit Income tax provision increased
$17.0 million to $2.8 million from an income tax benefit in
2002. The change in income taxes was a result of a pre-tax
gain in 2003 compared to a pre-tax loss in 2002. The 2002
tax benefit was affected by a $1.3 million reduction in esti-
mated income taxes payable relating to the reversal of prior
period accruals.

Minority Interest Minority Interest reflects Glencore’s
interest in the net operating results of Century Aluminum

of Kentucky, LLC (the “LLC"), the limited liability company
which holds the power contract for the Hawesville facility.
The Minority Interest primarily represented the amortization
of the power contract. Minority Interest for the year ended
December 31, 2003 decreased $4.3 million to $1.0 million.
The decrease was a result of eliminating the minority interest
in April 2003 through Century’s acquisition of Glencore's 20%
interest in the Hawesville facility.

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle
The Company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations” on January 1, 2003. The cumulative
effect of adopting this standard was a one-time, non-cash
charge of $5.9 million, net of tax of $3.4 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company's principal sources of liquidity are cash

flow from operations and available borrowings under the
Company’s revolving credit facility and Nordural's new term
loan facility. The Company’s principal uses of cash are oper-
ating costs, payments of interest on the Company’s outstand-
ing debt, the funding of capital expenditures and investments
in related businesses, working capital and other general
corporate requirements.

Debt Service

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had $524.1 million
of indebtedness outstanding, including $9.9 million of
principal under the Company’s first mortgage notes, net of
unamortized issuance discount, $175.0 million of principal
under the Company’s convertible notes, $250.0 million of

principal under the Company’s senior notes, $7.8 million in
industrial revenue bonds which were assumed in connection
with the Hawesville acquisition. and $81.4 million of debt
outstanding at Nordural.

First Mortgage Notes Interest payments on the Company’s
first mortgage notes are payvable semiannually in arrears
beginning on October 15, 2001. Payment obligations under
the notes are guaranteed by the Company’s domestic restrict-
ed subsidiaries and secured by mortgages and security inter-
ests in 80% of the real property, plant and equipment com-
prising the Hawesville facility and 100% of the real property,
plant and equipment comprising the Ravenswood tucility.
The first mortgage notes are due to mature in 2008, In
August 2004, the Company completed a tender offer and
consent solicitation for the Company’'s first mortgage notes.
In connection with the consent solicitation. the Company
entered into a supplemental indenture that eliminated sub-
stantially all of the restrictive covenants and certain default
provisions contained in the first mortgage notes indenture,
The Company purchased approximately $315.1 million in
aggregate principal amount of the first mortgage notes validly
tendered in the tender offer and not withdrawn. Following
the purchase of the first mortgage notes accepted in the ten-
der offer. $9.9 million in aggregate principal amount of the
first mortgage notes remain outstunding. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis — Recent Developments — The
2004 Refinancing.” The Company has provided the trustee
under the indenture notice of its intent to call for redemption
all outstanding first mortgage notes on or about April 15,
2005,

Convertible Notes Interest payments on the Company's
convertible notes are payable semiannually in arrears begin-
ning on February 1, 2005. The Company’'s obligations under
the notes are guaranteed by each of the Company's substan-
tiad existing and future domestic restricted subsidiaries if and
for so long as such subsidiary guarantees the Company's sen-
ior notes. The convertible notes are due 10 mature on Augusr
1, 2024. The convertible notes are convertible at any time at
an initial conversion rate of 32,7430 shares of common stock
per $1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustments
for certain events. The initial conversion rate is equivalent to
a conversion price of approximately $30.3409 per share of
the Company’s common stock. Upon conversion of a con-
vertible note, the holder will receive cash up to the aggregate
principal amount of the notes to be converted, and, at the
Company’s election, cash, common stock or a combination
thereof in respect of the remainder. if any, of the Company’s
conversion obligation in excess of the principal amount. The
convertible notes are redeemable at the Company’s option
beginning on August 6, 2009. The holders mayv require the
Company to repurchase all or part of their convertible notes
on each of August 1, 2011, August 1, 2014 and August 1,
2019. The convertible notes are classified as current because

they are convertible at any time.



Senior Notes Interest payments on the Company’s senior
notes are payable semiannually in arrears beginning on
February 15, 2003, The senior notes are guaranteed by each
of the Company’s substantial existing and future domestic
restricted subsidiaries. The senior notes are due to mature on
August 15, 2014. The indenture governing the Company’s
senior notes contains customary covenants, including limita-
tions on the Company’s ability to incur additional indebted-
ness, pay dividends, sell assets or stock of certain subsidiaries
and purchase or redeem capital stock. The Company agreed
to file and cause to become effective a registration statement
to exchange the senior notes for new notes in a transaction
registered under the Securities Act. On February 11, 2005, the
exchange offer registration statement filed by the Company
was declared effective. On March 14, 2003, the exchange
offer period expired. All of the Company’s 7.5% Senior Notes
due August 15, 2014 were exchanged in the exchange offer.
The terms of the exchange notes are substantially identical to
the senjor notes, except that the exchange notes are not sub-
ject to transfer restrictions.

Revolving Credit Facility Effective April 1, 2001, the
Company entered into a $100.0 million senior secured revolv-
ing credit facility with a syndicate of banks. The revolving
credit facility will mature on April 2, 2006. The Company's
obligations under the revolving credit facility are guaranteed
by each of the Company’s substantial existing domestic sub-
sidiaries and secured by a first priority security interest in all
accounts receivable and inventory belonging to the Company
and the Company’s subsidiary borrowers. The availability of
funds under the revolving credit facility is subject to a $30.0
million reserve and limited by a specified borrowing base
consisting of certain eligible accounts receivable and invento-
ry. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility are, at the
Company'’s option, at the LIBOR or the Fleet National Bank
base rate plus, in each case, an applicable interest margin.
The applicable interest margin ranges from 2.25% to 3.0%
over the LIBOR rate and 0.73% to 1.5% over the base rate
and is determined by certain financial measurements of us.
There were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving
credit facility as of December 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003. Interest periods for LIBOR rate borrowings dare one,
two, three or six months, at the Company’s option. The
Company measures the Company’s borrowing base at month-
end. At December 31, 2004, the Company had a borrowing
base of $87.9 million under the revolving credit facility. The
Company is subject to customary covenants, including limita-
tions on capital expenditures, additional indebiedness, liens,
guarantees, mergers and acquisitions, dividends, distributions,
capital redemptions and investments.

Glencore Note Payable In April 2004, the Company

repaid the remaining $14.0 million of outstanding principal
on a six-year $40.0 million promissory note payable to
Glencore that was issued on April 1, 2003 in connection with
the Company’s acquisition of the remaining 20% interest in

the Hawesville facility. The payment consisted of a $2.0 mil-
lion required principal payment and an optional $12.0 million
prepayment of principal. The Glencore note bore interest at a
rate of 10% per annum and was due to mature on April 1,
2009.

Industrial Revenue Bonds Effective April 1, 2001, as part
of the purchase price for the Hawesville acquisition, the
Company assumed industrial revenue bonds, or IRBs, in the
aggregate principal amount of $7.8 million which were
issued in connection with the financing of certain solid waste
disposal facilities constructed at the Hawesville facility, From
April 1, 2001 through April 1, 2003, Glencore assumed 20%
of the liability related to the IRBs consistent with its owner-
ship interest in the Hawesville facility during that period. The
IRBs mature on April 1, 2028, and bear interest at a variable
rate not to exceed 12% per annum determined weekly based
upon prevailing rates for similar bonds in the industrial rev-
enue bond market. Interest on the IRBs is paid quarterly. At
December 31, 2004, the interest rate on the IRBs was 2.30%,
The IRBs are classified as current liabilities because they are
remarketed weekly ahd, under the indenture governing the
IRBs, repayment upon demand could be required if there is a
failed remarketing. The IRBs are secured by a Glencore guar-
anteed letter of credit. The Company has agreed o reimburse
Glencore for all costs arising from the letter of credit and
have secured the reimbursement obligation with a first priori-
ty security interest in the 20% interest in the Hawesville facili-
ty. The Company's maximum potential amount of future pay-
ments under the reimbursement obligations for the Glencore
letter of credit securing the IRBs would be approximately
$8.2 mitlion.

Nordural's Term Loan Facility, At December 31, 2004
Nordural had $68.5 million of debt outstanding under its
then existing $185 million loan facility. On February 10, 2003,
Nordural executed agreements and documents related to a
new $365.0 million senior term loan facility arranged by
Landsbanki Islands hf. and Kaupthing Bank hf. The new
term loan facility closed and funded on February 15, 2005.
Amounts borrowed under the new term loan facility refi-
nanced debt under Nordural’s former term loan facility, and
will be used to finance a portion of the costs associated with
the ongoing expansion of the Nordural facility and for
Nordural’s general corporate purposes. Amounts borrowed
under Nordural's new term loan facility generally will bear
interest at a margin over the applicable Eurodollar rate, plus
any increased cost of compliance by the lenders with any
applicable reserve asset requirements. Nordural's obligations
under the new term loan facility have been secured by a
pledge of all of Nordural’s shares pursuant to a share pledge
agreement with the lenders. In addition, substantially all of
Nordural’s assets are pledged as security under the loan
facility. Nordural is required to make the following minimum
repayments of principal on the facility: $15.5 million on
February 28, 2007 and $14.0 million on each of August 31,
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2007, February 29, 2008, August 31, 2008, February 28, 2009,
August 31, 2009 and February 28, 2010. If Nordural makes a
dividend payment (which dividends are not permitted until
the Nordural facility has been expanded to a production level
of 212,000 metric tons per year), it must simultaneously make
a repayment of principal in an amount equal to 50% of the
dividend. The new term loan facility is non-recourse to
Century Aluminum Company. All outstanding principal must
be repaid at final maturity on February 28, 2010.

Nordural’s loan facility contains customary covenants,
including limitations on additional indebtedness, investments,
capital expenditures (other than related to the expansion
project), dividends, and hedging agreements. Nordural is also
subject to various financial covenants, including a net worth
covenant and certain maintenance covenants, including
minimum interest coverage and debt service coverage
beginning as of December 31, 2004,

Convertible Preferred Stock

In connection with the Hawesville acquisition, the
Company issued $25.0 million of the Company’s convert-
ible preferred stock to Glencore. The Company was
required to pay dividends on the preferred stock at a rate
of 8% per year, which was cumulative (see “Consolidated
financial statements,” Note 8). In accordance with account-
ing guidance, no liability for cumulative preferred divi-
dends was recorded until the dividends were declared. In
May 2004, the Company used proceeds from the
Company's April 2004 equity offering to pay $3.3 million in
dividend arrearages on the Company’s convertible pre-
ferred stock. Subsequent to the dividend payment in May
2004, Glencore converted the 500,000 shares of the
Company’s convertible preferred stock it owned into
1,395,089 shares of the Company’s common stock, repre-
senting a conversion price of $17.92 per share. The conver-
sion was effected in accordance with the terms of the
Certificate of Designation for the preferred stock.

Working Capital

The Company had negative working capital of $103.4
million at December 31, 2004, primarily because the convert-
ible notes are classified as current liabilities. Excluding the
convertible notes, working capital would have been $71.6
million.

The Company’s working capital increased modestly with
the acquisition of Nordural in April 2004 and a further pro-
portionate increase is expected as the Nordural expansion
comes on line in 2006. With the exception of Nordural, the
Company does not anticipate significant changes in working
capital. The Company believes that cash flow from opera-
tions and borrowing availability under the revolving credit
facility will be sufficient to meet working capital needs.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures for 2004 were $75.0 million. $59.8
million of which was related to the expansion project at
the Nordural facility, with the balance principally related to
upgrading production equipment, maintaining facilities and
complying with environmental requirements. The revolving
credit facility limits the Company’s ability to make capital
expenditures at its U.S. reduction facilities; however, the
Company believes that the amount permitted will be ade-
quate to maintain its properties and business and comply
with environmental requirements. The Compuny anticipates
capital expenditures of approximately $20.0 million in
2003, exclusive of the Nordural expansion. The Nordural
expansion will require approximately $320.0 million of cap-
ital expenditures in 2005. Through December 31. 2004, the
Company had outstanding capital commitments refated to
the Nordural expansion of $218.8 million. The Company’s
cost commiiments for the Nordural expansion may materi-
ally change depending on the exchange rate betsween the
U.S. dollar and certain foreign currencies, principally the
euro and the Icelandic krona. Approximately 64% of the
expected project costs for the Nordural expansion are
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, pri-
marily the euro and the krona. As of December 31, 2004,
the Company had no hedges to mitigate the Company’s
foreign currency exposure, See “Management's Discussion
and Analysis — Recent Developments — Nordural
Acquisition and Expansion.”

Acquisitions, Liquidity and Financing

The Company’s strategic objectives are to grow the
Company’s aluminum business by acquiring primary alu-
minum reduction facilities that offer favorable investment
returns and lower the Company’s unit production costs, to
diversity the Company’s geographic presence. and to pur-
sue opportunities in bauxite mining and alumina refining.
The Company anticipates that operating cash flow, together
with borrowings under the revolving credit facility and the
Nordural term loan facility, will be sufficient 1o meet its
future debrt service obligations as they become due, as well
as working capital and capital expenditures requirements.
The Company's ability to meet its liquidity needs, including
any and all of its debt service obligations, will depend
upon the Company's future operating performance, which
will be affected by general economic, financial, competi-
tive, regulatory, business and other factors, many of which
are beyond the Company’s control. The Company will con-
tinue from time to time to explore additional financing
methods and other means to lower its cost of capital,
including stock issuances or debt financing and the appli-
cation of the proceeds to the repayment of bank debrt or

other indebtedness.



(Dollars in thousands)

2004 2003 2002
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 105,828 $ 87,379 $ 54,486
Net cash used in investing activities (275,286) (78,695) (18,196)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 185,422 (25,572) (4,586)
Increase (decrease) in cash $ 15,964 $ (16,888 $ 31,704

Historical

The Company’s Statements of Cash Flows for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are summarized
above:

Net cash from operating activities of $105.8 million in 2004
was $18.4 million higher than the same period in 2003
Exclusive of the $35.5 million settlement received in 2003
from the termination of the Original Sales Contract and
entering into the New Sales Contract with Glencore for the
years 2005 through 2009 and the $50.3 million cash pay-
ment in 2004 for the tender premium plus accrued interest
for the refinancing of the Company’s first mortgage notes,
net cash from operating activities increased $104.2 million
in 2004. This increase was a direct result of improved price
realizations and the added margin contributions from the
Nordural facility which was acquired in April 2004.

Net cash from operating activities in 2003 increased $32.9
million to $87.4 million from the 2002 level. The increase
in 2003 was primarily the result of the $35.5 million first
quarter termination and settlement of the Original Sales
Contract as discussed in Part I, Item 1, “Business — Sales
and Distribution.” Gross profit associated with increased
shipments of 77.2 million pounds, mainly the result of the
April 1, 2003 acquisition of the 20% interest in the
Hawesville facility, improved cash provided from operating
activities by an additional $5.6 million. Reduced tax refunds
of $8.1 million and increased cash payments for interest of
$2.0 million, primarily associated with the Glencore Note,
partially offset the favorable change in cash from operating
activities discussed above.

The Company’s net cash used in investing activities in
2004 was $275.3 million, an increase of $§196.6 million from
2003. The net acquisition cost of the Nordural facility in
April 2004 and the Gramercy assets in October 2004 was
$198.6 million as compared to the net acquisition cost for
the additional 20% interest in the Hawesville facility in
April 2003 of $59.8 million. Purchases of property, plant
and equipment, including the Nordural expansion costs,
were $75.0 million in 2004 as compared to the 2003 pur-
chases of property, plant and equipment of $18.9 million.

The Company’s net cash used in investing activities was
$78.7 million in 2003, consisting of $59.8 million for the
acquisition of the 20% interest in the Hawesville facility
and $18.9 million of capital expenditures. The use of cash

"Additionally, the Company paid $13.1 million of financing

for investing activities in 2002 consisted primarily of capital
expenditures.

Net cash provided by financing activities during 2004 was
$185.4 million, an increase of $211.0 million from the pre-
vious year. The increase was primarily due to the issuance
of $425.9 million of debt, and the issuance of $215.8 mil-
lion of common stock. This increase was partially offset by
debt repayments of $439.9 million, consisting of payments
of $315.1 million for the first mortgage notes tendered in a
debrt refinancing, $106.9 million for the Nordural term loan
facility, the $14.0 million repayment of Glencore note debrt,
and $3.9 million for other miscellaneous debt payments.

fees for the debt issued in the fourth quarter of 2004 and
$3.3 million payment of accrued preferred dividends in the
second quarter of 2004.

Net cash used in financing activities in 2003 was a result
of paying $26.0 million on the Glencore Note. The cash
used for financing activities in 2002 related primarily to
common and preferred stock dividend payments made
during the year.

The Company believes that cash flow from operations, its
unused revolving credit facility, and Nordural's new term
loan facility will provide sufficient liquidity to meet working
capital needs, fund capital improvements and the planned
expansion at Nordural, and provide for the debt service
requirements.

Contractual Obligations

In the normal course of business, the Company has entered
into various contractual obligations that will be settled in
cash. These obligations consist primarily of long-term debt
obligations and purchase obligations. The expected future
cash flows required to meet these obligations are shown in
the table on the following page. The purchase obligations
consist of long-term supply contracts for alumina and
electrical power. The Other long-term habilities include
pension, SERB, other postretirement benefits, workers’
compensation liabilities, asset retirement obligations and
estimated deferred tax payments. More information is
available on these contractual obligations in "Consolidated
Financial Statements."
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Payments Due by Period

(Dollars tn nrillions) Total <1 Yedr 1-3 Yeors 3-3 Years > 5 Yedrs

Debt(12 $ 8891 $ 791 S 31.2 S 57.8 S 721.0
Estimated interest payments‘? 323.0 16.7 90.0 813.2 128.1
Operating lease obligations 22 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.4
Purchase obligations'® 1,224.2 354.3 4181 276.9 74.9
Other long-term liabilities™’ 2337 14.9 31.0 34.0 1538
Total $ 26722 § 4654 § 3710 § 4376 S L1782

(1) Debt includes principal repayments on the 11.75% senior secured first mortgage notes. 7.53% senior notes due 2014, 1.73% convertible senior notes due 20240 the IRBs and the Nordural debr

(2} Estimated interest payments on the Company’s long-term debt age based on several assumptions, including the borrowing under the new werm loan faciliey for the Nordurad expansion
project and assumptions for the interest rates for the Compuny’s variable rate debt. The Company expects to borrow an additional $293.0 million under the new term loan fuciliy through
mid-2006. The Company's variable rate debt is based primarily on the Eurodollar rate plus an applicuble margin, The Company assumes that the Furodollar sate will be 2500 in 2005
increasing to 5.00% in 2008 and remaining steady thereafter. The IRBs interest rate is variable and the Company estimated future payments based on o rate of 2300 In addition. the
Companv assumes the 11.75% senior secuwred first mortgage notes will be called in April 2005 and the 7.3% senior notes due 2074 and 1L.73%. converible senior notes due 202 wiil renain
outstanding until their respective due dates.

(3) Purchase obligations include long-term alumina, electrical power, unode contracts and the Nordural expansion project conumitments. Nordurd!s power contracts and domestic aluming
contructs, except for Century Kentucky. are priced as a percentage of the |
per metric on for 2006, $1,638 per metric ton for 2007 and $1,550 per metric ton thercatter for purposes of cileulating expected Tuture cash Hows for these contracts. Century Kentucky's
long-term alumina contract has variable cost-based pricing. The Company used cost forecists provided by the supplier 10 caleulate the expected future cush Hows for this contret. The
Naordural anode contract and some Nordural expansion contract commitments are denominaied in curos, The Compuany assumed a $1.20/Furo conversion nite to estimate the obligations
under these contricts.

E price of primary aluminum. The Company assumed an LME price of $1.730 per metric ton for 2005, 313

(4) Other long-term liahilities include the Company's expected pension contributions, OPER und SERB henefit pavments. workers” compensaiion benefit payinenis, estimated deterred tax
payments and asset retirement obligations, Expected Denefit payments for the SERB and OPEB plans. which are unfunded, are included tor 2005 dhrough 2004 The Company's estinuvied
contributions 1o the pension plans are included for 20035, Estimited contributions for 2006 and hevond are not included in the table because these estimates would be heavily dependent
upon assumptions about future events. including among other things. future regulatory changes, changes to tax Taws, future interest rtes levels and future retam on plan assets, Assel
retirement obligntions consist primarily of disposal costs for spent potines. the amount and timing of these costs are estimated hased on 1he number of the Company’s operiting pris and

their expecled pot life

Environmental Expenditures and Other Contingencies

The Company has incurred and in the future will continue to
incur capital expenditures and operating expenses for matters
relating to environimental control, remediation, monitoring
and compliance. The aggregate environmental related
accrued liabilities were $0.6 million and $0.7 million at
December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.
The Company believes that compliance with current environ-
mental laws and regulations is not likely to have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results
of operations or liquidity; however, environmental laws and
regulations may change, and the Company may become sub-
ject to more stringent environmental laws and regulations in
the future.

The Compuny has planned environmental capital expendi-
tures of approximately $0.6 million for 2005, $1.3 million for
2006 and $0.4 million for 2007. In addition, the Company
expects to incur operating expenses relating to environmental
matters of approximately $9.9 million, $10.7 million, and
$11.0 million in 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. These
amounts do not include any projected capital expenditures or
operating expenses tor the Company’s joint venture interest
in the Gramercy assets, which have not yet been determined.
As part of the Company’s general capital expenditure plan, it
also expects to incur capital expenditures for other capiral
projects that may, in addition to improving operations, reduce
certain environmental impacts.

The Company’s income tax returns are periodically examined
by various tax authorities. The Company is currently under
audit by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS") for the tax

years through 2002, In connection with such examinations.
the IRS has raised issues and proposed tax deficiencies. The
Company is reviewing the issues raised by the IRS and plans
to contest the proposed tax deficiencies. The Company
believes that its tax position is well-supported and. based on
current information, does not believe that the outcome of the
tax audit will have a material impact on the Compuny’s finan-

cial condition or results of operations.

The Company is @ defendant in several actions relating to
various aspects of its business. While it is impossible 1 pre-
dict the ultimate disposition of any litigation, the Company
does not believe that any of these lawsuits, either individual-
ly or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or

liquidity.
New Accounting Standards
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standuards Bourd

("FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123(R). “Share Based Payvment.”
This Statement is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123,

“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation™ and supersedes
Accounting Principles Board (“APB™) Opinion No. 23,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” This stutement
focuses primarily on accounting for transactions in which a
company obtains employee services in share-based payment
rransactions. This Statement will require the Company to rec-
ognize the grant date fair value of an award of equiry-hased
instruments to employvees and the cost will be recognized
over the period in which the employees ure required to
provide service. The Statement is effective for the first interim
period beginning after June 13, 2003, The Company is



currently assessing the Statement and does not expect the
impact of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) to have a material
effect on the Company’s financial position and results of
operations.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory
Costs.” This Statement amends the guidance in Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing” to
clarify the accounting treatment for certain inventory costs. In
addition, the Statement requires that the allocation of produc-
tion overheads be based on the facilities’ normal production
capacity. This Statement is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal vears beginning after June 13, 2005. The
Company is currently assessing the Statement and has not yet
determined the impact of adopting SFAS No. 151 on the
Company'’s financial position and results of operations.

On December 8, 2003, the “Medicare Prescription Drug
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” or the
Medicare Act, was signed into law. The Medicare Act intro-
duces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well as 1
federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit
plans that provide a benefit that is at least *actuarially equiva-
lent” 1o Medicare Part D.

In the second quarter of 2004, an FASB Staff Position (FSP
FAS 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related
to the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003”) was issued providing guidance
on the accounting for the effects of the Medicare Act for
employers that sponsor postretirement health care plans that
provide prescription drug benefits. This FSP superseded FSP
FAS 106-1, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related
to the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003." The FSP is effective for the first
interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2004.

The guidance in this FSP applies only to the sponsor of a
single-employer defined benefit postretirement health plan
for which the employer has concluded that prescription drug
benefits available under the plan are actuarially equivalent
and thus qualify for the subsidy under the Medicare Act and
the expected subsidy will offset or reduce the employer’s
share of the costs of postretirement prescription drug cover-
age provided by the plan. The Company determined that the
Company's plans were actuarially equivalent and elected to
adopt the provisions of FSP FAS 106-2 in the third quarter of
2004 on a prospective basis only. The Company compared
the Medicare Part D plan to its retiree prescription drug cov-
erage using actuarial equivalencies and reflecting the retiree
premiums and cost sharing provisions of the various plans.
This analysis showed the Company’s plans provide more
valuable benefits to retirees than the Medicare Part D plan.
Based on the Company’s understanding of the intent of the
Medicare Act and subsequent proposed regulations, the
Company still believes the Company’s plans will meet the

actuarial equivalence requirements necessary to receive the
Medicare reimbursement.

For retirees with post-65 prescription drug benefits, the
Company estimates the net effect on post-65 per capita
medical and prescription drug costs t© be a reduction of
approximately 11% to 14% due to the Medicare reimburse-
ment. The changes are assumed to have no impact on future
participation rates in the Company’s post-65 prescription
drug programs.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Commodity Prices

The Company is exposed to the price of primary aluminum.
The Company manages its exposure to fluctuations in the
price of primary aluminum by selling aluminum at fixed
prices for future delivery and through financial instruments as
well as by purchasing alumina under supply contracts with
prices tied to the same indices as the Company’s aluminum
sales contracts. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis —
Key Long-Term Supply Agreements.” The Company’s risk
management activities do not include trading or speculative
transactions.

Apart from the contracts described under “Key Long-Term
Primary Aluminum Sales Contracts,” the Company had
forward defivery contracts to sell 196.7 million pounds and
351.8 million pounds of primary aluminum at December 31,
2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. Of these forward
delivery contracts, the Company had fixed price commitments
to sell 13.6 million pounds and 70.5 million pounds of
primary aluminum at December 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, respectively, of which, none at December 31, 2004
and 53.5 million pounds at December 31, 2003, were with
Glencore.

Fixed Price Financial Sales
Contracts at December 31, 2004:
Primary Aluminum

(Millions of pounds)

2005 425.7
2006 370.3
2007 374.6
2008 185.2
2009 163.3
2010 165.3
Total 1.686.4

At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, the Company
had fixed price financial sales contracts, primarily with
Glencore, for 1,686.4 million pounds and 102.9 million
pounds of primary aluminum, respectively, of which 1,023.7
million pounds and 58.8 million pounds, respectively, were
designated cash flow hedges. Certain of these sales contracts
contain clauses that trigger additional shipment volume when
the market price for a period is above the contract ceiling
price for that period. These contracts are evaluated monthly
and the maximum additional shipment volume over the life
of the contract would be 662.7 million pounds, if the market
price exceeded the ceiling price for all months during the
term of the contract. These fixed price financial sales contracts

are scheduled for settlement at various dates in 2005 through
2010. The Company had no fixed price financial purchase
contracts to purchase aluminum at December 31, 2004 or
December 31, 2003,

Additionally, to mitigate the volatility of the natural gas mar-
kets, the Company enters into fixed price financial purchase
contracts, accounted for as cash flow hedges, which setle in
cash in the period corresponding to the intended usage of
natural gas.

Fixed Price Financial Purchase
Contracts at December 31, 2004:

Natural Gas

( Thousands of DTH)
2005 2,880
2006 480
2007 ’ 480
2008 480
Total 4.320

At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, the Company
had fixed price financial purchase contracts for 4.3 million
and 2.7 million DTH (one decatherm is equivalent to one
million British Thermal Units), respectively. These financial
instruments are scheduled for settlement at various dates in
2005 through 2008.

On a hypothetical basis, a $0.01 per pound increase or
decrease in the market price of primary aluminum is esti-
mated to have an unfavorable or favorable impact of $6.5
million after tax on accumulated other comprehensive
income for the contracts designated as cash tlow hedges,
and $4.2 million on net income, for the contracts designated
as derivatives, for the year ended December 31, 2004 as a
result of the forward primary aluminum financial sales
contracts outstanding at December 31, 2004.

On a hypothetical basis, a $0.50 per DTH decrease or
increase in the market price of natural gas is estimated to
have an unfavorable or favorable impact of $1.4 million
after tax on accumulated other comprehensive income for
the year ended December 31, 2004 as a result of the for-
ward natural gas financial purchase contracts outstanding
at December 31, 2004.

The Company’s metals and natural gas risk management
activities are subject to the control and direction of senior
management. The merals related activities are regularly
reported to the Company’s board of directors.




This quantification of the Company’s exposure to the com-
modity price of aluminum is necessarily limited, as it does
not take into consideration the Company’s inventory or for-
ward delivery contracts, or the offsetting impact on the sales
price of primary aluminum products. Because all of the
Company's alumina contracts, except the GAL Alumina con-
tract for the Hawesville facility, are indexed to the LME price
for aluminum, beginning in 2002, they act as a natural hedge
for approximately 12% of the Company’s production. As of
December 31, 2004, approximately 49% and 43% of the
Company’s production for the years 2005 and 2006, respec-
tively, was either hedged by the alumina contracts, Nordural
electrical power and tolling contracts, and/or by fixed price
forward delivery and financial sales contracts.

Nordural Substantially all of Nordural’s revenues are
derived from the Billiton Tolling Agreement whereby it con-
verts alumina provided to it into primary aluminum for a fee
based on the LME price for primary aluminum, Nordural’s
revenues are subject to the risk of decreases in the market
price of primary aluminum; however, Nordural is not
exposed to increases in the price for alumina, the principal
raw material used in the production of primary aluminum. In
addition, under its current power contract, Nordural purchas-
es power at a rate which is a percentage of the LME price for
primary aluminum, providing Nordural with a natural hedge
against downswings in the market for primary aluminum.

Nordural is exposed to foreign currency risk due to fluctua-
tions in the value of the U.S. dollar as compared to the euro
and the Icelandic krona. Under its Billiton Tolling Agreement
and power contracts, Nordural’s revenues and power costs
are based on the LME price for primary aluminum, which is
denominated in U.S. dollars. There is no currency risk associ-
ated with these contracts. Nordural’s labor costs are denomi-
nated in Icelandic krona and a portion of its anode costs are
denominated in euros. As a result, an increase or decrease in
the value of those currencies relative to the U.S. dollar would
affect Nordural's operating margins.

Interest Rates

Interest Rate Risk. The Company’s primary debt obligations
are the outstanding senior notes, convertible notes, first mort-
gage notes, the Nordural debt, borrowings under the revolv-
ing credit facility, if any, and the IRBs. Because the senior
notes, convertible notes and first mortgage notes bear a fixed
rate of interest, changes in interest rates do not subject the
Company to changes in future interest expense with respect
to these borrowings. Borrowings under the revolving credit
facility, if any, are at variable rates at a margin over LIBOR or
the Fleet National Bank base rate, as defined in the revolving
credit facility. The IRBs bear interest at variable rates deter-
mined by reference to the interest rate of similar instruments
in the industrial revenue bond market. At December 31,
2004, Nordural had approximately $75.7 million of long-term

debt consisting primarily of obligations under its then exist-
ing term loan facility. Borrowings under Nordural’s term loan
facility in place as of December 31, 2004 bore interest at a
margin over the applicable LIBOR rate. On February 10,
2003, the Company executed agreements and documents
related to a new $365.0 million senior term toan facility
arranged by Landsbanki Islands hf. and Kaupthing Bank hf.
The new term loan facility closed and funded on February
15, 2003, at which time a portion of the proceeds of the
new facility were used 1o refinance the prior loan facility,
see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Recent
Developments — Nordural’s New Term Loan Facility.”
Borrowings under Nordural’s new term loan facility bear
interest at a margin over the applicable Eurodollar rate.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had $76.3 million of
variable rate borrowings. A hypothetical one percentage
point increase in the interest rate would increase the
Company’s annual interest expense by $0.8 million, assuming
no debt reduction.

The Company’s primary financial instruments are cash and
short-term investments, including cash in bank accounts and
other highly rated liquid money market investments and
government securities,
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MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management's is responsible for establishing and maintaining
an adequate system of internal conuols over financial report-
ing for the Company. This system is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations,

a system of internal controls over financial reporting can
provide only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Further, because of changes in condi-
tions, effectiveness of internal controls over financial report-
ing may vary over time. The Company’s system of internal
controls contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions
are taken 1o correct deficiencies as they are identified.

As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness
of the system of internal controls over financial reporting,
exclusiveness of the system of internal controls over financial
reporting, exclusive of Nordural ehf, which was acquired on
April 27, 2004, and whose financial statements reflect total
assets and revenues constituting 35% and 8% percent,
respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement
amounts as of and for the vear ended December 31, 2004.
Management’s evaluation was based on the framework in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the

Commitiee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of the
Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation. manage-
ment concluded that the Company’s system of internal
conuols over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2004, Management's assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting has been audited by Deloitte and Toche
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as
stared in their report which appears in this Item under the
heading "Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm.”

.

Craig A. Davis
Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer

Desd W W
David W. Beckley

Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Century Aluminum Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Century Aluminum Company and subsidiaries

(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, share-
holders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our zudits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-
tion. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Century Aluminum Company and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their opera-

tions and their cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on
the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report
dated March 11, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion
on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, on January 1, 2003, the Company adopted Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations.

‘OM “; \ o«u:,t\.g Lup
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
March 11, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Century Aluminum Company:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in

the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Century Aluminum
Company and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As described in
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting, management excluded from their assess-
ment the internal control over financial reporting at Nordural
ehf, which was acquired on April 27, 2004 and whose finan-
cial statements reflect total assets and revenues constituting
33% and 8% percent, respectively, of the related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Accordingly, our audit did not include the
internal control over financial reporting at Nordural ehf. The
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting and for its assess-
ment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on man-
agement’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understand-
ing of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating man-
agement’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed by, or under the supervision of, the compu-
ny’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, and effected by the
company’s board of directors, management, and other person-
nel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over finan-
cial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
derail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposi-
tions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded us necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are heing made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition.
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent [imitations of internal control over
financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstate-
ments due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected
on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over finuncial reporting

to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company
maintained effective internal conuol over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on the criteria established in Znternal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opin-
ion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting us of December 31,
2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated financial statements as of and for the vear
ended December 31, 2004 of the Company and our report on
those financial statements, dated March 11, 2003, expresses an
unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph us
1o the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.

OM “; \ om.r;Lk LLp
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
March 11, 2005




CONSOLIDATED [
BALANCE SHEETS 5
December 31, j

(Dollars in thousands,except share data) ’ . 2004 2003 :
Assets: :i
Cash and cash equivalents $ 44,168 $ 28,204 :
Restricted cash 1,678 ~ — ?
Accounts receivable — net 79,576 51,370 2
Due from affiliates 14,371 10,957 =
Inventories ' 108,555 89,360 E
Prepaid and other current assets 10,055 4,101 2
Deferred taxes — current portion 25,688 3,413

Total current assets 284,091 , 187,405
Property, plant and equipment — net 806,250 494,957
Intangible asset — net 86,809 99,136
Goodwill 95,610 —
Other assets 58,110 28,828

Total $ 1,330,870 $ 810,326
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities: 2
Accounts payable, trade . - $ 47479 $ 34,829
Due to affiliates \ 84,815 27,139
Industrial revenue bonds 7,815 7,815
Accrued and other current liabilities 53,309 30,154
Accrued employee benefits costs — current portion 8,458 - 8,934
Convertible senior notes 175,000 —
Long term debt — current portion 10,582 —

Total current liabilities 387,458 108,871
Senior secured notes payable — less current portion ' — 322,310
Senior unsecured notes payable — net ) 250,000 —
Nordural debt 80,711 —
Notes payable — affiliates : — 14,000
Accrued pension benefits costs — less current portion 10,685 10,764
Accrued postretirement benefits costs — less current portion 85,549 78,218
Due to affiliates — less current portion 30,416 —
Other liabilities 34,961 33,372
Deferred taxes 68,273 55,094

Total noncurrent liabilities 560,595 513,758

Contingencies and Commitments (Note 12)
Shareholders’ Equity:
Convertible preferred stock (8% cumulative, 500,000 shares
outstanding at December 31, 2003) — 25,000
Common stock (one cent par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, l
32,038,297 and 21,130,839 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively) 320 211
Additional paid-in capital 415,453 173,138
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (52,186) (5,222)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) . 19,230 - (5,430)

Total shareholders’ equity 382,817 187,697

Total $ 1,330,870 $ 810,326

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF OPERATIONS

Year Eviced December 31

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002
Net Sales:
Third-party customers $ 897,338 $ 660,393 S 603,744
Related parties 163,209 121,886 107.594
1,060,747 782.479 T11.338
Cost of goods sold 884.273 734,441 691,277
Gross profit 176,474 48,038 20,001
Selling, general and administrative expenses 24,916 20.833 13,783
Operating income 151,558 27,205 4,278
Interest expense — third party (39.946) (41,269 (40.813)
Interest expense — related party (380) (2579 —
Interest income 1,086 339 392
Net gain (loss) on forward contracts (21,521 25,691 —
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (47,448) — —
Other income (expense) — net (1,305) (688) (1.843)
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest,
equity in earnings of joint venture and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle 42,044 8.699 (37.986)
Income tax benefit (expense) (14.894) (284D 14,126
Income (loss) before minority interest, equity in earnings
of joint venture and cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle 27.150 5,858 (23.860)
Minority interest — 9306 3,252
Equity in earnings of joint venture 821 — —
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle 27,971 6,844 (18.608)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,
net of tax benefit of $3.430 — (3,878) —
Net income (loss) 27.971 966 (18.608)
Preferred dividends (769) (2,0001 (2.000)
Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders $ 27,202 S (1,034) S (20,608)
Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share:
Basic:
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle $ 0.95 S 0.23 § (1.00)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (0.28) —
Net income (loss) $ 0.95 S (0.03) $ (1.00)
Diluted:
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of chunge in
accounting principle $ 0.93 S 0.23 $ (1.00)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (0.28) —
Net income (loss) $ 0.95 S (0.05) N (1.00)
Dividends Per Common Share $ 0.00 S 0.00 S 0.15

See notes to consolidated financial statements




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Convertibie Additional Other Retained Total
Comprebensive Preferred Contmon Paid-In  Comprebensive Earnings  Sharebolders’
(Dollars in thousands) Income (Loss) Stock Stock Capital  Income (Loss) (Deficit) Equity
Balance, January 1, 2002 $ 25,000 205 $168414 $ 6,752 $ 16814  $217,185
Comprehensive income (loss) — 2002
Net loss — 2002 $ (18,608) (18,608) (18,608)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net unrealized gain on financial
instruments, net of $2,752 in tax 4,803
Net amount reclassified to income,
net of $1,624 in tax (2,944)
Minimum pension liability adjustment,
net of $4,183 in tax (7,438)
Other comprehensive loss (5,579 (5,579 (5,579
Total comprehensive loss $ (24,187)
Dividends —
Common, $0.15 per share (3,091 (3,091
Preferred, $3 per share (1,500) (1,500)
Issuance of common stock — compensation plans 1 544 545
Issuance of common stock — pension plans 5 3,175 3,180
Balance, December 31, 2002 $ 25,000 211 $172,133 $ 1,173 -~ $ (6,385) $192,132
Comprehensive income (loss) — 2003
Net income — 2003 $ 966 966 966
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net unrealized loss on financial
instruments, net of $2,171 in tax (3,940)
Net amount reclassified to income,
net of $3,531 in tax (6,262)
Minimum pension liability adjustment,
net of $1,371 in tax 3,807
Other comprehensive loss 6,393) - (6,395) (6,395)
Total comprehensive loss $ (5,429)
Dividends on common stock an an
Issuance of common stock — compensation plans 1,005 1,005
Balance, December 31, 2003 $ 25,000 211 $173,138 $ (5,222) $ (5,430) $187,697
Comprehensive income (loss) — 2004
Net income — 2004 $ 27,971 27,971 27,971
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net unrealized loss on financial
instruments, net of $29,380 in tax (51,554)
Net amount reclassified to
income, net of $(2,196) in tax 3,950
Minimum pension liability
adjustment, net of $360 in tax 640
Other comprehensive loss (46,964) (46,964) (46,964)
Total comprehensive loss $ (18,993) ‘
Dividends on common stock (42) (42)
Dividends on preferred stock (3,269 (3,269)
Preferred stock conversion (25,000) 14 24 986
Issuance of common stock — equity offering 90 208,121 208,211
Issuance of common stock — compensation plans 5 9,208 9,213
Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 320 $415453  $(52,186) $ 19,230  $ 382,817

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOW

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $ 27,971 $ 966 S (18,608)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to
net-cash provided by operating activities:
Unrealized net loss on forward contracts 2,405 6.325 —
Depreciation and amortization 50,254 31.264 56,653
Deferred income taxes 6,623 8.892 4,965
Pension and other post retirement benefits 8,040 10,986 10,415
Workers' compensation 820 1.426 1,619
Inventory market adjustment (2,273) (7.522) (247)
Loss on disposal of assets 761 1.040 252
Non-cash loss on early extinguishment of debt 9,659 — —
Minority interest — (986) (5,252)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — 9,308 —
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable — net (19,440) (5,130) 2,125
Due from affiliates (3,623) (2,153) 2,918
Inventories ) (4,937) (2,762) (1,671)
Prepaids and other assets (3,590) (261) (1,838)
Accounts payable, trade 2,602 (2,928) (4,637)
Due to affiliates 16,179 3.660 10,142
Accrued and other current liabilities 15,507 2,211 (3.447)
Other — net (1.130) 13,045 1,095
Net cash provided by operating activities 105,828 87,379 54,486
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (15,240 (18,858) (18,427)
Nordural expansion (59,784) — —
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment — — 231
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (198,584) (59.837) —
Restricted cash deposits (1,678) — —
Net cash used in investing activities (275,2806) (78,695) (18.196)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Borrowings 425,883 — -
Repayment of debt — third party (425,881) — —
Repayment of debt — related party (14,000) (26,000) —
Financing fees {13,062) (297) —
Issuance of common stock 215,793 736 5
Dividends (3,311) (1D (4,591
Net cash provided (used in) by financing activities 185,422 (25,572) (4,586)
Increase (decrease) in cash 15,964 (16.888) 31,704
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 28,204 45,092 13,388
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 44,108 S 28204 S 45,092

See notes to consolidated financial statements.




CENTURY ALUMINUM COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(Dollars in Thousands except Per Share Amounts)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Basis of Presentation Century
Aluminum Company (“Century” or the “Company”) is a
holding company, whose principal subsidiaries are Century
Aluminum of West Virginia, Inc. (“Century of West Virginja”),
Berkeley Aluminum, Inc. (“Berkeley”), Century Kentucky, Inc.
(“Century Kentucky™) and Nordural ehf (“Nordural”). Century
of West Virginia operates a primary aluminum reduction facil-
ity in Ravenswood, West Virginia (the “Ravenswood facility”).
Berkeley holds a 49.7% interest in a partnership which oper-
ates a primary aluminum reduction facility in Mt. Holly,
South Carolina (the “Mt. Holly facility”) and a 49.7% undivid-
ed interest in the property, plant, and equipment comprising
the Mt. Holly facility. The remaining interest in the partner-
ship and the remaining undivided interest in the Mt. Holly
facility are owned by Alumax of South Carolina, Inc., a sub-
sidiary of Alcoa (“ASC”). ASC manages and operates the Mt.
Holly facility pursuant to an Owners Agreement, prohibiting
the disposal of the interest held by any of the owners with-
out the consent of the other owners and providing for certain
rights of first refusal. Pursuant to the Owners Agreement,
each owner furnishes its own alumina, for conversion to alu-
minum, and is responsible for its pro rata share of the oper-
ating and conversion costs.

Prior to April 1996, the Company was an indirect, wholly-
owned subsidiary of Glencore International AG (“Glencore”
and, together with its subsidiaries, the “Glencore Group”). In
April 1996, the Company completed an initial public offering
of its common stock. At December 31, 2004, Glencore owned
29.1% of Century’s common stock outstanding. Century and
Glencore enter into various transactions such as the purchase
and sale of primary aluminum, alumina and forward primary
aluminum financial sales contracts. v

The Company’s historical results of operations included in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements may not
be indicative of the results of operations to be expected in
the future.

Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of Century Aluminum
Company and its subsidiaries, after elimination of all signifi-
cant intercompany transactions and accounts. Berkeley’s
interest in the Mt. Holly partership and the Company’s inter-
est in the Gramercy and St. Ann Bauxite joint ventures, see
Note 2, are accounted for under the equity method. There

are no material undistributed earnings in the Mt. Holly part-
nership or the Gramercy and St. Ann Bauxite joint ventures.

Prior to the acquisition of the 20% interest in the Hawesville
facility on April 1, 2003, discussed in Note 2, the Company
had recorded the Hawesville property, plant and equipment
that it owned directly (potlines one through four) on a 100%
basis and had recorded its 80% undivided interest in the
remaining property, plant and equipment (excluding the fifth
potline which was owned directly by Glencore) on a propor-
tionate basis. In each case its interest in the property, plant
and equipment including the related depreciation, was
recorded in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
(“EITF”) Issue No. 00-01, “Investor Balance Sheet and Income
Statement Display under the Equity Method for Investments

.in Certain Partnerships and Other Ventures.” The Company

consolidated the assets and liabilities and related results of

operations of the Century Aluminum of Kentucky, LLC (the
“LLC™) and reflected Glencore’s 20% interest in the LLC as a
minority interest.

Revenue Revenue is recognized when title and risk of loss
pass to customers in accordance with contract terms. In some
instances, the Company invoices customers prior to physical
shipment of goods. In such instances, revenue is recognized
only when the customer has specifically requested such treat-
ment and has made a fixed commitment to purchase the
product. The goods must be complete, ready for shipment
and physically separated from other inventory with risk of
ownership passing to the customer. The Company must
retain no performance obligations and a delivery schedule
must be obtained. Sales returns and allowances are treated as
a reduction of sales and are provided for based on historical
experience and current estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash equivalents are com-
prised of cash and short-term investments having maturities
of less than 90 days at the time of purchase. The carrying
amount of cash equivalents approximates fair value.

Accounts Receivable The accounts receivable are net of an
allowance for uncollectible accounts of $1,020 and $3,968 at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Inventories The majority of the Company’s inventories,
including alumina and aluminum inventories, are stated at
the lower of cost (using the last-in, first-out ("LIFO”) method)
or market. Inventories at Nordural are stated at the lower of
first in, first out (“FIFO”) cost or market. The remaining
inventories (principally supplies) are valued at the lower of
average cost or market.
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Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and
equipment is stated at cost. Additions, renewals and improve-
ments are capitalized. Asset and accumulated depreciation
accounts are relieved for dispositions with resulting gains
or losses included in earnings. Maintenance and repairs are
expensed as incurred. Depreciation of plant and equipment
is provided for by the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Buildings and improvements 14 to 45 vears
Machinery and equipment 510 22 years
The Company periodically evaluates the carryving value of
long-lived assets 1o be held and used when events and
circumstances warrant such a review. The carrying value of a
separately identifiable, long-lived asset is considered impaired
when the anticipated undiscounted cash flow from such asset
is less than its carrving value. In that event, a loss is recog-
nized based on the amount by which the carrying value
exceeds the fair value of the long-lived asset. Fair value
is determined primarily using the anticipated cash flows
discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved.

Intangible Asset The intangible asset consists of the power
contract acquired in connection with the Hawesville acquisi-
tiorn. The contract value is being amortized over its term

(ten years) using a method that results in annual amortization
equal to the percentage of a given year’'s expected gross
annual benefit to the total as applied to the total recorded
value of the power contract. As part of the acquisition of the
20% interest in the Hawesville facility on April 1, 2003, the
20% portion of the power contract that was indirectly owned
by Glencore was revalued in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business
Combinations.” As a result, the gross carrying amount of the
contract and the accumulated amortization, both related

to the 20% portion of the contract indirectly owned by
Glencore, were removed and the fair value of the 20% of the
power contract acquired on April 1, 2003 was recorded. As
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the gross carrying amount
of the intangible asset was $153,592 and accumulated amorti-
zation totaled $66,783 and $54,456, respectively. For the
vears ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 amortization
expense totaled $12,327, $18,680 and $26,258, respectively.
The estimated intangible asset amortization expense for the
next five years is as follows:

Estimated Amortization Expense

For the Year Ending December 31, 2005 $ 14,162
For the Year Ending December 31, 2006 $ 12,695
For the Year Ending December 31, 2007 $ 13,617
For the Year Ending December 31, 2008 $ 14,669
For the Year Ending December 31, 2009 $ 15,717

The intangible asset is reviewed for impairment in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets,” whenever events or circumstances indicate that its
net carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Other Assets At December 31, 2004 and 2003, other assets
consist primarily of the Company’s investiment in the Mt.
Holly partnership, the investment in the Gramercy and St.
Ann Bauxite joint venture, deferred financing costs. deferred
pension assets, and intangible pension assets. The Company's
equity share of the undistributed earnings (loss) increases
(decreases) the investment in the joint venture, Deferred
financing costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
life of the related financing. In 2004 and 2003. the Compuny
recarded an additional minimum liability related t© employvee

y—

pension plan obligations as required under SFAS No. 87.

The Company accounts for its 49.7% interest in the Mt,
Holly partnership using the equity method of accounting.
Additionally, the Company’s 49.7% undivided interest in cer-
tain property, plant and equipment of the Mt. Holly facility is
held outside of the partnership, and the undivided interest
in these assets of the facility is accounted for in accordance
with the EITF Issue No. 00-01, “Investor Balance Sheet and
Income Statement Display under the Equity Method for
Investments in Certain Partnerships and Other Ventures.”
Accordingly, the undivided interest in these wassets and

the related depreciation are being accounted for on
proportionate gross basis.

Income Taxes The Company accounts for income raxes
using the liability method, whereby deferred income taxes
reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences berween
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities tor financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax
purposes. In evaluating the Company's ability to realize
deferred tax ussets, the Company uses judgment in consider-
ing the relative impact of negative and positive evidence. The
weight given to the potential effect of negative and positive
evidence is commensurate with the extent to which it can be
objectively verified. Based on the weight of evidence. both
negative and positive, if it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. a

valuation allowance is established.

Tax reserves have been established which the Compuny
believes to be adequate in relation to the potential for addi-
tional assessments. Once established, reserves are adjusted
only when there is more information available or when an

event occurs necessitating a change to the reserves,

Postemployment Benefits The Compuny provides certain
postemployment benefits to former and inactive employees
and their dependents during the period following employ-
ment, but before retirement. These benefits include salary
continuance, supplemental unemployment and disability
healthcare. Postemployment benefits are accounted for in
accordance with SFAS No. 112, “Employers” Accounting for



Postemployment Benefits.” The statement requires recogni-
tion of the estimated future cost of providing postemploy-
ment benefits on an accrual basis over the active service life
of the employee.

Forward Contracts and Financial Instruments The
Company routinely enters into fixed and market priced con-
tracts for the sale of primary aluminum and the purchase of
raw materials in future periods. The Company also enters
into fixed price financial sales contracts to be settled in cash
to manage the Company’s exposure to changing primary alu-
minum prices. The Company has also entered into financial
purchase contracts for natural gas to be settled in cash to
manage the Company’s exposure to changing natural gas
prices.

All aluminum-based financial and physical delivery contracts
are marked-to-market using the LME spot and forward mar-
ket for primary aluminum. Because there is no quoted
futures market price for the U.S. Midwest premium compo-
nent of the market price for primary aluminum, it is neces-
sary for management to estimate the U.S. Midwest premium.
The forward natural gas purchase contracts are marked-to-
market using the NYMEX spot and forward market for natu-
ral gas. Fluctuations in the NYMEX price of natural gas can
have a significant impact on gains and losses included in the
Company’s financial statements from period to period.

Certain financial sales contracts for primary aluminum and all
financial purchase contracts for natural gas have been desig-
nated as cash flow hedges in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS No. 133 (as amended). The Company assesses the
effectiveness of these cash flow hedges quarterly. To the
extent such cash flow hedges are effective, unrealized gains
and losses on the financial sales contracts are deferred in the
balance sheet as accumulated other comprehensive income
until the hedged transaction occurs when the realized gain or
loss is recognized as revenue in the Statement of Operations.
Any ineffective portion of the gain or loss is reported in
earnings immediately. Mark-to-market gains and losses are
recorded in net gain (loss) on forward contracts in the period
delivery is no longer deemed probable.

The aluminum-based financial and physical delivery contracts
that are derivatives, as provided for in current accounting
standards, are marked-to-market monthly. Fluctuations in the
LME price of primary aluminum have a significant impact on
gains and losses included in the Company’s financial state-
ments from period to period. Unrealized gains and losses are
included in net gain (loss) on forward contracts.

The effectiveness of the Company’s hedges is measured by a
historical and probable future high correlation of changes in
the fair value of the hedging instruments with changes in
value of the hedged item. If high correlation ceases to exist,
then gains or losses will be recorded in net gain (loss) on

forward contracts. To date, high correlation has always been
achieved. During 2004 and 2003, the Company did not rec-
ognize any gains or losses for ineffective portions of hedging
instruments. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the
Company had deferred losses of $49,113 and 1,391, respec-
tively, on its hedges, net of tax.

Financial Instruments The Company’s financial instru-
ments (principally receivables, payables, debt refated to the
Industrial Revenue Bonds (the “IRBs”) and forward financial
contracts) are carried at amounts that approximate fair value.
At December 31, 2004, the Company’s 7.3% Senior
Unsecured Notes due 2014 and 1.75% Convertible Senior
Notes due 2024 had carrying amounts of $250,000 and
$175,000, respectively. At December 31, 2004, the estimated
fair value of the 7.3% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2014 and
1.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024 are $266,250 and
192,171, respectively. The Company has provided the trustee
under the indenture notice of its intent to call for redemption
all outstanding first mortgage notes on or about April 15,
2005 at 105.875% of the principal balance, plus accrued and
unpaid interest.

Concentration of Credit Risk Financial instruments, which
potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit
risk, consist principally of cash investments and trade receiv-
ables. The Company places its cash investments with highly
rated financial institutions. At times, such investments may be
in excess of the FDIC insurance limit. The Company’s limited
customer base increases its concentrations of credit risk with
respect to trade receivables. The Company routinely assesses
the financial strength of its customers.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those esti-
mares.

Stock-Based Compensation The Company has elected not
to adopt the recognition provisions for employee stock-based
compensation as permitted in SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation.” As such, the Company accounts
for stock based compensation in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board (“"APB") Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees.” No compensation cost has been
recognized for the stock option portions of the plan because
the exercise prices of the stock options granted were equal
to the market value of the Company’s stock on the date of
grant. Had compensation cost for the Stock Incentive Plan,
see Note 9, been determined using the fair value method
provided under SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income
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2004 2003 2002
Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders As Reported S 27.202 S (1,034 S (20.608)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense
included in reported net income, net of related tax effects 1,767 1.441 172
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all
awards, net of related tax effects (2,148) (2.106) (402)
Pro forma net income (loss) S 26,821 $ (1,699 $ (20.838)
Basic income (loss) per share As Reported S 0.95 S (0.0 S (1.00)
Pro Forma S 0.94 $ (0.08) S (1.01)
Diluted income (loss) per share As Reported $ 0.95 5 (005 $ (100
Pro Forma S 0.93 S (0.08) S LoD

(loss) and earnings (loss) per share would have changed o
the pro forma amounts indicated above:

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date
of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with

the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants
in 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002
Weighted average fair
value per option granted
during the year $14.12 5 7.78 S 0.66
Dividends per quarter $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.05

Risk-free interest rate 3.54% 3.11% 3.82%
Expected volatility 70% 75% 69%
Expected lives (in years) 5 5 5

New Accounting Standards In December 2004, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS
No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment.” This Statement is a
revision of FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation” and supersedes Accounting Principles
Board (“APB") Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees.” This statement focuses primarily on accounting
for transactions in which a company obtains employee
services in share-based payment transactions. This Statement
will require the Company to recognize the grant date fair
value of an award of equity-based instruments to employees
and the cost will be recognized over the period in which the
employees are required to provide service. The Statement is
effective for the first interim period beginning after June 15,
2005. The Company is currently assessing the Statement and
does not expect the impact of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) to
have a material effect on the Company’s financial position
and results of operations.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory
Costs.” This Statement amends the guidance in Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing” 1o
clarify the accounting treatment for certain inventory costs. In
addition, the Statement requires that the allocation of produc-
tion overheads be based on the facilities’ normal production
capacity. This Statement is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years heginning after June 15, 2005. The
Company is currently assessing the Statement and has not yet

determined the impact of adopting SFAS No. 151 on the
Company’s financial position and results of operations.

On December 8, 2003, the “Medicare Prescription Drug
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.” or the
Medicare Act, was signed into law. The Medicare Act intro-
duces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well us a
federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit
plans that provide a benefit that is at least “actuarially equiva-
lent” to Medicare Part D.

In the second quarter of 2004, a FASB Staff Position (FSP FAS
106-2, *Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to
the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and
Modernization Act of 20037) was issued providing guidance
on the accounting for the effects of the Medicare Act for
employers that sponsor postretirement health care plans that
provide prescription drug benefits. This FSP superseded FSP
FAS 106-1, "Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Reluted
to the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003.” The FSP was eftective for the
first interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2004,

The guidance in this FSP applies only to the sponsor of a
single-emplover defined benefit postrctircmcm health plan
for which the emplover has concluded that prescription drug
benefits available under the plan are actuarially equivalent
and thus qualify for the subsidy under the Medicare Act and
the expected subsidy will offset or reduce the employer's
share of the costs of postretirement prescription drug cover-
age provided by the plan. The Company determined that the
Company’s plans were actuarially equivalent and elected to
adopt the provisions of FSP FAS 106-2 in the third quarter of
2004 on a prospective basis only. The Company compared
the Medicare Part D plan to its retiree prescription drug cov-
erage using actuarial equivalencies and reflecting the retiree
premiums and cost sharing provisions of the vurious plans.
This analysis showed the Company's plans provide more
vajuable benefits to retirees than the Medicare Part D plan.
Based on the Company’s understanding of the intent of the
Medicare Act and subsequent proposed regulations, the
Company still believes the Company’s plans will meet the
actuarial equivalence requirements necessary to receive the
Medicare reimbursement.



For retirees with post-G5 prescription drug benefits, the
Company estimates the net effect on post-65 per capita med-
ical and prescription drug costs to be a reduction of approxi-
mately 11% to 14% due to the Medicare reimbursement.

The changes are assumed to have no impact on future
participation rates in the Company’s post-05 prescription
drug programs.

The Company has reduced the Company’s accumulated ben-
efit obligation (ABQO) for the subsidy related to benefits
atributed to past service by approximately $26.4 million.
The reduction will be recognized on the balance sheet
through amortization.

Foreign Currency The Company’s Nordural subsidiary
located in Iceland uses the U.S. Dollar as its functional cur-
rency. Certain operating and construction expenses are

denominated and payable in foreign currencies. For example,

Nordural’s revenues are denominated in U.S. Dollars, while
its labor costs are denominated in Icelandic krona and a
portion of its anode costs are denominated in euros.
Transactions denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency are recorded based on exchange rates
at the time such transactions arise and result in transaction
gains and losses which are reflected in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

2. Acquisitions

The Gramercy Acquisition

On October 1, 2004, the Company, together with subsidiaries
of Noranda Finance, Inc. (“Noranda”), completed the joint
purchase of the Gramercy, Louisiana alumina refinery
(“Gramercy”) owned by Kaiser Aluminum and Chemical
Corporation (*Kaiser™) and Kaiser’s 49% interest in a Jamaican
bauxite mining partnership (*St. Ann Bauxite”). The purchase
price was $23.0 million, subject to working capital adjust-
ments. The Company and Noranda each paid one-half of

the purchase price. All of the bauxite mined by the partner-
ship is used for the production of alumina at the Gramercy
refinery and a third party refinery in Texas. The Gramercy
refinery chemically refines bauxite into alumina, the principal
raw material in the production of primary aluminum. The
Hawesville facility purchases virtually all of its alumina
requirements from Gramercy. The Company uses the equity
method of accounting for its investment in Gramercy and St.
Ann Bauxite.

Nordural Acquisition

On April 27, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition
of Nordural hf (“Nordural”) from Columbia Ventures
Corporation. Nordural is an Icelandic company that owns
and operates the Nordural facility, a primary aluminum
reduction facility located in Grundartangi, Iceland, approxi-
mately 25 miles northwest of Reykjavik, Iceland’s capital.
The results of operations of Nordural are included in the

Company’s Statement of Operations beginning April 28, 2004.

The Nordural facility, built in 1998, is the Company’s most
recently constructed and lowest operating cost facility. The
Company is expanding the Nordural facility 1o increase its

annual production capacity to 467 million pounds, or more

than double its current production capacity.

The Company accounted for the acquisition as a purchase
using the accounting standards established in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business
Combinations.” The Company received the final Nordural
asset appraisal in December 2004. That appraisal had signifi-
cantly higher asset values than the preliminary appraisal used
to record the acquisition. As a result, goodwill decreased
$11,649 from previously reported amounts in interim periods.
The Company recognized $95,610 of goodwill in the transac-
tion. None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible

for Icelandic tax purposes however; all of the goodwill is
expected to be deductible for U.S. tax purposes.

The purchase price for Nordural was $195,346, allocated as
follows:

Allocation of Purchase Price:

Current assets $ 41,322
Property, plant and equipment 276,597
Goodwill 95,610
Current liabilities (26,144)
Long-term debt (177,898)
Other non-current liabilities (14,141
Total purchase price S 195,346

The following tables represent the unaudited pro forma
resulis of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 assuming the acquisition occurred on January 1,
2003, The unaudited pro forma amounts may not be
indicative of the results that actually would have occurred

if the transaction described above had been completed and
in effect for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31,
(Unaudited) 2004 2003
Net sales $ 1,099,122 $ 883,418
Income before cumulative
effect of change in

accounting principle 34,787 20,962
Net income 34,787 15,084
Net income available 1o
common shareholders 34,018 13,084
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 1.08 $ 0.44
Diluted $ 1.07 $ 0.43

The Acquisition of Glencore interest in Hawesville
On April 1, 2003, the Company completed the acquisition of
the remaining 20% interest in the Hawesville facility. The
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operating results of the 20% interest in the Hawesville facility
have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. Century paid a pur-
chase price of $99,400 which it financed with approximately
$59,400 of available cash and $40,000 from the Glencore
Note. See Note 3 for a discussion of the Glencore Note. In
connection with the acquisition, the Company assumed all
of Glencore’s obligations related to the 20% interest in the
Hawesville facility. In addition, the Company issued a prom-
issory note to Glencore to secure any payments Glencore
could be required to make as issuer of a letter of credit in
April 2001 in support of the Industrial Revenue Bonds

(the “IRBs™.

3. Inventories

Inventories, at December 31, consist of the following:

2004 2003

Raw materials § 31,511 $ 35621
Work-in-process 18,180 15,808
Finished goods 8,307 14,920
Operating and other supplies 30,357 22951
$ 108,553 § 89,360

At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, approximate-
ly 69% and 78% of the inventories, respectively, were valued
at the lower of LIFO cost or market. At December 31, 2004,
the excess of FIFO cost over LIFO cost (or market, if lower)
was $4,775. At December 31, 2003, the excess of LIFO cost
(or market, if lower) over FIFO cost was approximately
$3,762.

4. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, at December 31, consist of
the following:

2004 2003
Land and improvements S 13412 $ 13,371
Buildings and improvements 116,695 41,029
Machinery and equipment 849,815 630,348
Construction in progress 68,718 9,398

1,048,640
(242,390)
$ 806,250

700,146
(205,189
5 494,957

Less accumulated depreciation

For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. the
Company recorded depreciation expense of $37,927 and
$32,584, respectively.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the cost of property, plant
and equipment includes $154,209 and $153,474, respectively,
and accumulated depreciation includes $37,102 and $49.598,
respectively, representing the Company’s undivided interest
in the property, plant and equipment comprising the Mt.
Holly facility.

The Company has various operating lease commitments
through 2010 relating to office space, machinery and equip-
ment. Expenses under all operating leases were $423, 8331
and S319 for the vears ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. There were no noncancelable operating
leases as of December 31, 2004.

5. Debt

Secured First Morigage Notes

In August 2004, the Company completed a tender offer and
consent solicitation for the Company’s 11.75% senior secured
first mortgage notes due 2008 (the “Notes™). The principal
purpose of the tender offer and consent solicitation wus to
refinance Century’s outstanding Notes with debt bearing
lower interest rate, thereby reducing the Company’s annual
interest expense. On August 26, 2004, the Company pur-
chased $315.055 in principal amount of Notes in the tender
offer. Holders received $1,096.86 for each $1.000 principal
amount of Notes purchased in the tender offer, plus accrued
and unpaid interest. Holders who tendered their Notes by
August 6, 2004, received a consent pavment of $20.00 per
$1.000 of principal amount of Notes resulting in a total con-
sideration of $1,116.86 for each $1.000 principal amount of
Notes purchased in the tender offer, plus acerued and unpaid

interest up to but not including the date of puayment.

Following the tender offer, the Company hus outstanding a

principal amount of $9.945 of Notes. No principal payments
are required untl maturity. On April 15, 2005, the Compuany
will exercise its right to call the remaining Notes at 105.875%,

of the principal balance, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company financed the tender offer and consent solicita-
tion with a portion of the proceeds trom the private place-
ment of its 7.3% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2014 ("Senior
Unsecured Notes™) in the aggregate principal amount of
§250,000 and 1.75% Senior Convertible Notes due 2024
(“Convertible Notes™) in the aggregate principal amount of
$175,000. The sale of the Convertible Notes closed August 9,
2004 resulting in net proceeds to the Company of approxi-
mately $169.209. The sale of the Senior Unsecured Notes
closed August 26, 2004 and resulted in net proceeds o the
Company of approximately $243.238. The Company used the
remaining proceeds from these offerings and available cush
to repay a portion of the outstanding debt at Nordurul.

The Company had unamortized discounts on the Notes of
$67 and $2,690 at December 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, respectively. In connection with the consent solicitu-
tion, the Company entered into a supplemental indenture
that eliminated substantially all of the restrictive covenants
and certain default provisions contained in the indenture
governing the remaining Notes.

In the third quarter of 2004, the Company recognized o loss




on early extinguishment of debt of $47.448 related to the refi-
nancing of the Notes. The loss was composed of the following:

Purchase price premium, less consent fee $ 30,516
Consent payments . 6,301
Write-off of capitalized financing fees 7,373
Write-off of bond discount 2,286
Other tender costs 972

$ 47,448

Convertible Senior Notes

On August 9, 2004, the Company completed the sale of
$175,000 aggregate principal amount of its 1.73% Convertible
Notes due August 1, 2024. Interest is payable on February 1st
and August 1st of each year.

The Convertible Notes are convertible at any time at an initial
conversion rate of 32.7430 shares of Century common stock
per one thousand dollars of principal amount of Convertible
Notes, subject to adjustments for certain events. The initial
conversion rate is equivalent to a conversion price of approx-
imately $30.5409 per share of Century common stock. Upon
conversion of a Convertible Note, the holder of such
Convertible Note shall receive cash equal to the principal
amount of the Convertible Note and, at Century’s election,
either cash, Century common stock, or a combination there-
of, for the Convertible Notes’ conversion value in excess of
such principal amount, if any. In addition, the Convertible
Notes are redeemable at Century’s option beginning on
August 6, 2009, and the holders may require Century to
repurchase all or part of their Convertible Notes for cash on
each of August 1, 2011, August 1, 2014 and August 1, 2019.
The convertible notes are classified as current because they
are convertible at any time.

The obligations of the Company pursuant to the Convertible
Notes are unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally,
on a senior unsecured basis by all of the Company's existing
domestic restricted subsidiaries other than Century Aluminum
of Kentucky, LLC.

Senior Unsecured Notes

On August 26, 2004, the Company completed the sale of
$250,000 aggregate principal amount of its 7.5% Senior
Unsecured Notes due August 15, 2014, Interest is payable
February 15th and August 15th of each year.

The indenture governing the Senior Unsecured Notes con-
tains customary covenants, including limitations on the
Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay
dividends, sell assets or stock of certain subsidiaries and
purchase or redeem capital stock.

The obligations of the Company pursuant to the Senior
Unsecured Notes are unconditionally guaranteed, jointly
and severally, on a senior unsecured basis by all of the

Company’s existing domestic restricted subsidiaries other
than Century Aluminum of Kentucky, LLC.

On or after August 13, 2009, the Company may redeem any
of the senior notes, in whole or in part, at an initial redemp-
tion price equal to 103.75% of the principal amount, plus
accrued and unpaid interest. The redemption price will
decline each year after 2009 and will be 100% of the princi-
pal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, beginning on
August 15, 2012.

Revolving Credit Facility

Effective April 1, 2001, the Company entered into a $100,000
senior secured reyolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit
Facility™) with a syndicate of banks. The Revolving Credit
Facility will mature on April 2, 2006. The Company’s obliga-
tions under the ﬁevolving Credit Facility are unconditionally
guaranteed by its domestic subsidiaries (other than Century
Aluminum of Kenrtucky, LLC (the “LLC”) and certain sub-
sidiaries formed in connection with the Nordural and
Gramercy acquisitions) and secured by a first priority security
interest in all accounts receivable and inventory belonging

to the Company and its subsidiary borrowers. The availability
of funds under the Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a
$30,000 reserve and limited by a specified borrowing base
consisting of certain eligible accounts receivable and invento-
ry. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had a borrowing
base of $87,861 under the Revolving Credit Facility.
Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are, at the
Company’s option, at the LIBOR rate or the Fleet National
Bank base rate plus, in each case, an applicable interest
margin. The applicable interest margin ranges from 2.25% to
3.0% over the LIBOR rate and 0.75% to 1.5% over the base
rate and is determined by certain financial measurements of
the Company. There were no outstanding borrowings under
the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2003. Interest periods for LIBOR rate borrow-
ings are one, two, three or six months, at the Company’s
option. The Company is subject to customary covenants,
including limitations on capital expenditures, additional
indebtedness, liens, guarantees, mergers and acquisitions,
dividends, distributions, capital redemptions and investments.

Industrial Revenue Bonds

Effective April 1, 2001, in connection with its acquisition of
the Hawesville facility, the Company assumed the IRBs in the
aggregate principal amount of $7,815. From April 1, 2001
through April 1, 2003, Glencore assumed 20% of the liability
related to the IRBs consistent with its ownership interest in
the Hawesville facility during that period. The IRBs mature
on April 1, 2028, and bear interest at a variable rate not to
exceed 12% per annum determined weekly based on prevail-
ing rates for similar bonds in the bond market, with interest
paid quarterly. The IRBs are secured by a Glencore guaran-
teed letter of credit and the Company provides for the servic-
ing costs for the letter of credit. The Company has agreed to
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Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafier
7.5% Senior Notes due August 2014 $ 250,000 S 230,000
Nordural debt 80,711 $ 8 S 30,354 $ 28,887 S 11,916 8,723
Total S 330,711 $§ $ 30,334 $ 28,887 $ 11,916 $ 255723

reimburse Glencore for all costs arising from the letter of
credit. The Company’s maximum potential amount of future
payments under the reimbursement obligations for the
Glencore letter of credit securing the IRBs would be $8,150.
The interest rate on the IRBs at December 31, 2004 was
2.30%. The IRBs are classified as current liabilities because
they are remarketed weekly and could be required to be
repaid upon demand if there is a failed remarketing, as pro-
vided in the indenture governing the IRBs. The Company’s
reimbursement obligations related to the Glencore letter of
credit securing the IRBs are guaranteed by each of its materi-
al consolidated subsidiaries, except for the LLC (see Note 19
for a discussion of note guarantees), and secured by a first
priority interest in the 20% interest in the Hawesville facility.

Glencore Note Payable

On April 1, 2003, in connection with its acquisition of the
remaining 20% interest in the Hawesville facility, the
Company issued a six-year $40,000 promissory note payable
to Glencore bearing interest at a rate of 10% per annum
(the “Glencore Note”). In April 2004, the Company paid the
remaining $14,000 of principal on the Glencore Note, which
consisted of a $2,000 required principal payment and an
optional $12,000 prepayment of principal.

Term Loan Facility — Nordural

As of December 31, 2004, Nordural had approximately
$68,494 of debt associated with a senior term loan facility
maturing December 31, 2009. In February 2005, the Company
repaid the remaining principal outstanding under the loan
facility with borrowing under a new term loan facility
described below. Amounts borrowed under Nordural's

loan facility bore interest at a margin over the applicable
LIBOR rate.

Nordural’s New Term Loan Facility

On February 10, 2005, Nordural executed agreements and
documents related a new $365.0 million senior term loan
facility with Landsbanki Islands hf. and Kaupthing Bank hf,
which closed and funded on February 15, 2005, Amounts
borrowed under the new term loan facility were used to refi-
nance debt under Nordural's existing term loan facility, and
will be used to finance a portion of the costs associated with
the ongoing expansion of the Nordural facility and for
Nordural’s general corporate purposes. Amounts borrowed
under Nordural's new term loan facility generally will bear
interest at a margin over the applicable Eurodollar rate.
Nordural’s obligations under the new term loan facility have
been secured by a pledge of all of Nordural’s shares pursuant
to a share pledge agreement with the lenders. In addition,
substantially all of Nordural's assets are pledged as security

under the loan facility. Nordural is required to make the fol-

lowing minimum repayments of principal on the facility:

$15.5 million on February 28, 2007 and $14.0 million on euach
of August 31, 2007, February 29, 2008, August 31, 2008,
February 28, 2009, August 31, 2009 and February 28, 2010.

If Nordural makes a dividend payment (which dividends are
not permitted until the Nordural facility has been expanded
to a production level of 212,000 metric tons per year), it

must simultaneously make a repayment of principal in an

amount equal to 30% of the dividend. The new term loan
facility is non-recourse to Century Aluminum Company. All
outstanding principal must be repaid at final maturity on

February 28, 2010.

Nordural's loan facility contains customary covenants. includ-

ing limitations on additional indebtedness, investments,

capital expenditures (other than related to the expansion

project), dividends, and hedging agreements. Nordural is

also subject to various financial covenants, including a net

worth covenant and certain maintenance covenants, includ-

ing minimum interest coverage and debt service coverage

beginning as of December 31, 2000.

Principal Payments on Long Term Debt
Principal payments on the Company’s long term debt in the

next five years and thereafier are as shown in the chart at

the top of the page:

6. Composition of Certain Balance
Sheet Accounts at December 31

2004 2003
Accrued and Other Current Liabilities
Income taxes S 11,698 S 2811
Accrued bond interest 8.148 7.936
Salaries, wages and benefits 15,210 7.813
Asset retirement obligations —
current portion 3,286 3,021
Stock compensation 2,132 2,252
Other 12.835 6.296
§ 53.309 $ 30,154
Accrued Employee Benefit Costs — Current Portion
Postretirement benefits S 4338 $ 4,242
Employee benefits cost 3.900 4,692
S 8,458 S 8,934
Other Liabilities
Workers' compensation $ 9317 $ 8971
Asset retirement obligations —
less current portion 13,946 13,474
Derivative liabilities 10.615 10,598
Other 1,083 329
$ 34961 S 33372




2004 2003

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Unrealized loss on financial
instruments, net of tax of

$28,011 and $864 $(49,113) $ (1,591
Minimum pension liahility
adjustment, net of tax of
$1,728 and $2,042 (3,073) (3,631
$(52,180) $ (3,222)

Century of West Virginia and Century of Kentucky are self-
insured for workers’ compensation. In addition, Century of
West Virginia has certain catastrophic coverage that is provided
under State of West Virginia insurance programs. The liability
for self-insured workers’ compensation claims has been dis-
counted at 4.5% for 2004 and 5.0% for 2003. The components
of the liability for workers’ compensation at December 31 are

as follows:
2004 2003
Undiscounted liability $ 15,379 $ 15,100
Less discount 3,241 3,558
$ 12138 $ 11,542

7. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits

The Company maintains noncontributory defined benefit
pension plans for all of the Company’s domestic hourly and
salaried employees. For the domestic salaried employees,
plan benefits are based primarily on years of service and
average compensation during the later years of employ-
ment. For hourly employees at the Ravenswood facility,
plan benefits are based primarily on a formula that provides
a specific benefit for each year of service. The Company's
funding policy is to contribute annually an amount based
upon actuarial and economic assumptions designed to
achieve adequate funding of the projected benefit obliga-
tions and to meet the minimum funding requirements of
ERISA. Plan assets consist principally of U.S. equity securi-
ties, growth funds and fixed income accounts. In addition,
the Company provides supplemental executive retirement
benefits (“SERB”) for certain executive officers. The
Company uses a measurement date of December 31st to
determine the pension and OPEB benefit liabilities.

The hourly employees at the Hawesville facility are part
of a United Steelworkers of America ("USWA") sponsored
multi-employer plan. The Comp'any’s contributions to

the plan are determined at a fixed rate per hour worked.
During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, the Company contributed $1,454, $1,407 and $1,467,
respectively, to the plan, and had no outstanding liability
at year end.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company’s accumu-
lated pension benefit obligation exceeded the fair value of
the pension plan assets at year end. At December 31, 2004

and 2003, the Company was required to record a minimum
pension liability, which primarily related to the Mt. Holly
facility, of $3,073 and $3,631, net of tax, respectively, the
charge for which is included in other comprehensive income,
In the future, the amount of the minimum pension liability
will vary depending on changes in market conditions,
performance of pension investments, and the level of
company contributions to the pension plans. The Company
will evaluate and adjust the minimum pension liability on

an annual basis.

Other Postretirement Benefits (OPEB)

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company
provides certain healthcare and life insurance benefits for
substantially all domestic retired employees. The Company
accounts for these plans in accordance with SFAS No. 106,
“Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other
Than Pensions.” SFAS No. 106 requires the Company (o
accrue the estimated cost of providing postretirement
benefits during the working careers of those employees
who could become eligible for such benefits when they
retire. The Company funds these benefits as the retirees
submit claims.

The change in benefit obligations and change in plan assets
as of December 31 are shown on the following page:

In developing the long-term rate of return assumption for
pension fund assets, the Company evaluated input from its
actuaries, including their review of asset class return expecta-
tions as well as long-term inflation assumptions. Projected
returns are based on historical returns of broad equity and
bond indices. The Company also considered its historical 10-
year compound returns. The Company anticipates that its
investments will generate long-term rates of return of 9.0%,
based on target asset allocations discussed below.

Effect of Medicare Part D

The following table shows the effect of the Medicare Part
D Subsidy on the components of the Company’s 2004 net
periodic postretirement benefit cost.

Year Ended
December 31, 2004
Included Excluded
Service cost $ 4,082 $ 4,407
Interest cost 7,336 7,850
Expected return on plan assets — —
Net amortization and deferral 1,493 1,984
Net periodic cost $ 12911 $ 14,241

For measurement purposes, medical cost inflation is initially
9%, declining to 5% over six years and thereafter.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect
on the amounts reported for the health care benefit obliga-
tions. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health
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2004 2003

Pension OPEB Pension OFER
Change in benefit obligation o
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 67.249 § 117,525 $ 38,442 $ 104.035
Service cost 3,369 4,082 3.339 3,757
Interest cost 4,261 7.336 3,761 6.823
Plan changes 114 (4.717) 1.649 18
Losses 8,379 28,467 2.948 7,087
Benefits paid (3,079 (4,757) (2,890) (4.19%)
Benefit obligation at'end of year $ 80,293 $ 147,936 $ 67,249 $ 117.525
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 53,095 S — § 38,382 S —
Actual return (loss) on plan assets 7.321 — 14.383 —
Employer contributions 9.853 4,757 3,220 4,195
Benefits paid (3,079 (4,757) (2,890) (4,19%)
Fair value of assets at end of year $ 67,190 S — $ 33095 S —
Funded status of plans
Funded status § (13,103) $(147.936) S (14.135) $ (117.525)
Unrecognized actuarial loss 12,852 63,248 7.370 36.613
Unrecognized transition obligation 60 — 234 —
Unrecognized prior service cost 4,549 (5.422) 5,104 (1,044
Net asset (liability) recognized S 4338 $ (90.110) S (1.447) S (81.956)
Amounts Recognized in the Statement of Financial Position
Prepaid benefit cost $ 15,043 S — $ 9274 s —
Accrued benefit liability (10,685) (90110 (12.4358) (81.9356)
Intangible asset — — 737 —
Accumulated other comprehensive income — — 1.000 —
Net amount recognized S 4,338 S (90,110) S (1,447 S (81.956)
The Company’s pension plans projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets as of

December 31 are as follows:

Projecied Benefit

Accunmidated Bengfit

Fairulie of

Obligation Obligation Pl Assers
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Hourly pension plan $ 43941 S 37781 $ 4353512 S 37781 § 44,606 & 39151
Salaried pension plan 27,300 18.702 22,579 15,231 22,384 13,944
Supplemental executive benefits pension plan (“SERB™ 9,052 10,766 9.052 10,764 — —
There are no plan assets in the SERB due to the nature of the plan.
Net periodic benefit costs were comprised of the following elements: o
Year Evded December 31
2004 2003 2002
Pension OPEB Pension OPEB Pension OPER
Service cost S 3369 S 4,082 % 3339 S 3757 s 3001 s 3019
Interest cost 4,261 7,336 3,761 6.823 3554 6.229
Expected return on plan assets (4,750) (3,454) — (3.334) —
Net amortization and deferral 1.167 1,493 2,055 1,148 1.425 401
Net periodic cost $ 4,047 $ 12911 5 3701 S 11,728 %3 4426 5 9649
Weighted average assumptions were used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:
Pension Benefits OPED
2004 2003 2004 20003
Discount rate 5.75% 6.25% 5.75% 6.23%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 1.00%
Weighted average assumptions were used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31:
Pension Benefits OPER
2004 2003 2004 2003
Measurement date 12/31/2003 12/31/2002 12/31/2003 12/31/2002
Fiscal year end 12/31/2004 12/31/2003 12/31/2004 12/31/2003
Discount rate 6.25% 6.50% 6.25% 6.50%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% — —




care cost trend rates would have had the féllowing effects
in 2004:

One Percentage One Percentage

Point Incredse Point Decredse

Effect on total of service and

interest cost components $ 2,241 $ (1,760
Effect on accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation  § 27,101 $ (21,310

The Company sponsors a tax-deferred savings plan under
which eligible domestic employees may elect to contribute
specified percentages of their compensation with the
Company providing matching contributions of 60% of the
first 6% of a participant’s annual compensation contributed
to the savings plan. One half of the Company’s contribu-
tion is invested in the common stock of Century and one
half of the Company’s contribution is invested based on
employee election. Company contributions to the savings
plan were $602, $590 and $607 for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Shares
of common stock of the Company may be sold at any
time. Employees are considered fully vested in the plan
upon completioh of two years of service. A year of service
is defined as a plan vear in which the employee works

at least 1,000 hours.

Plan Assets
The Company’s pension plans weighted average asset
allocations at December 31, 2004 and 2003, by asset
category are as follows:

Penision Plan Assets

at December, 31,

2004 2003
Equity securities 65% 71%
Debt securities 35% 29%
100% 100%

The Company seeks a balanced return on plan assets
through a diversified investment strategy. The Company’s
weighted average target allocation for plan assets is 65%
equity securities and funds and 35% fixed income funds.
The Company expects the long-term rate of return on the
plan assets to be 9.0%.

Equity securities include Century common stock in the
amounts of $0 and $9,505 (18% of total plan assets) at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. There are no
plan assets in the SERB plan due to the nature of the plan.

The Company’s other postretirement benefit plans are
unfunded. The Company funds these benefits as the
retirees submit claims.

Pension and OPEB Cash Flows

Contributions
The Company expects to contribute approximately $500 to
fund its pension plans for the year ended December 31, 2003,

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table provides the estimated future benefit
payments for the pension and other postretirement benefit
plans.

Pension OPER

Benefits Benefits
2005 $ 3,806 $ 4,558
2006 4,587 4,547
2007 4,818 5,146
2008 5,081 5,731
2009 5,437 6,378
Years 2010-2014 30,372 41,035

8. Shareholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock Under the Company’s Restated Certificate
of Incorporation, the Board of Directors is authorized to
issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with a par
value of one cent per share, in one or more series. The
authorized but unissued preferred shares may be issued
with such dividend rates, conversion privileges, voting
rights, redemption prices and liquidation preferences as the
Board of Directors may determine, without action by share-
holders.

On April 2, 2001, the Company issued to Glencore 300,000
shares of its 8.0% cumulative convertible preferred stock
(the “Preferred Stock™ for a cash purchase price of
$25,000. In May 2004, the Company used a portion of the
proceeds from a registered equity offering that closed in
April 2004 to pay preferred stock dividends of $3,269 or
$6.54 per preferred stock share. In May 2004, Glencore
exercised its option to convert its Preferred Stock into
shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $17.92
per common share. The Company issued 1,395,089 shares
of its common stock to Glencore in the conversion. At
December 31, 2004, the Company had no outstanding
Preferred Stock.

The Company suspended its common and preferred stock
dividends beginning in the fourth quarter of 2002. The
action was taken because the Company was near the limits
on allowable dividend payments under the then current
covenants in its bond indenture and due to current eco-
nomic conditions. In August 2004, the Company refinanced
its Notes and removed all restrictive covenants associated
with the Notes. As of December 31, 2003, the Company
had total cumulative preferred dividend arrearages of
$2,500, or $5.00 per share of preferred stock.
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9. Stock Based Compensation

1996 Stock Incentive Plan The Company adopted the 1996
Stock Incentive Plan (the “Stock Incentive Plan”) for the pur-
pose of awarding performance share units and granting qual-
ified incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options
to salaried officers and other key emplovees of the Company.
The Stock Incentive Plan was amended in 2004 and its

term was extended five years through February 28, 2011.
Additionally, as part of the amendment the number of
shares available under the Stock Incentive Plan was
increased 1,000,000 shares to a total of 3,000,000 shares.
Granted stock options vest one-third on the grant date and
an additional one-third on each of the first and second
anniversary dates, and have a term of 10 years. The per-
formance share units represent the right to receive common
stock, on a one-for-one basis on their vesting dates.

The Stock Incentive Plan provides for grants upon the
passage of time or the attainment of certain established
performance goals. As of December 31, 2004, 536,211
performance share units have been authorized and will
vest upon the attainment of the performance gouls.

The Company recognized $2,761, $2,254 and $269 of
expense related to the Stock Incentive Plan in 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. Service based performance share
units do not aftect the issued and outstanding shares of
common stock until conversion at the end ot the vesting
periods. However, the service based performance share
units are considered common stock equivalents and there-
fore are included, using the treasury stock method, in aver-

age common shares outstanding for diluted earnings per
share computations. Goal based performance share units
are not considered common stock equivalents until it
becomes probable that performance goals will he obtained.

Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan The
Company adopted a non-employee directors” stock option
plan for the purpose of granting non-qualified stock options
to non-employee directors. The number of shares available
under this plan is 200,000, of which options for 179.000
shares have been awarded. The initial options vest one-
third on the grant date and an additional one-third on

each of the first and second anniversary dutes. Subsequent
options vest one-fourth each calendar quarter. Each option
granted under this plan will be exercisable for a period of

10 vears from the date of grant.

A summary of the status of the Company’s Stock Incentive

Plan and the Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan as
of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and changes during

the vear ended on those dates is presented below:

10. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings per common share ("EPS™) amounts are
computed by dividing earnings after the deduction of
preferred stock dividends by the average number of
common shares outstanding. In accordance with current
accounting guidance, for the purpose of calculating EPS,
the cumulative preferred stock dividends accumulated for
the period were deducted from net income. as if declared.
Diluted EPS amounts assume the issuance of common

2004 2003 2002

Welghted

Weiohted Woighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Fxercise Lxercise

Options Shares Price Sheires Price Sheares Irice

Outstanding at beginning of vear 677,020 S 1294 691,200 § 1238 595.267 S 1282

Granted 90,750 23.34 161,730 14.06 96.600 11.05

Exercised (445.840) 1273 (60,630) 12.48 (667) =515

Forfeited (500) 7.98 (115.300) 12.70 — —

Outstanding at end of year 321,430 S 1615 677.020 S 1294 691.200 S 12538

The following table summarizes information about stock oprions outstanding at December 31, 2004
Options Ouistanding Opticns Exercisabie

Weighted Weighted Weighied

Numher Average Average Nionber Aeerage

Ouistanding Remeriniig fercise Lxercisable Iereise

Range of Exercise Prices al 1231704 Contractued Lije Price al 1203 104 Price

§17.00 to $24.51 127,670 9.5 vears S 2223 58,303 S 2166

$13.00 to $16.99 119,335 3.8 vears S 14.35 119.335 S 1435

$ 7.03 to §12.99 74,425 6.7 vears 3 862 74.425 5 8.62
321,430 252123




For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31,

2004

2003

2002

fncome

Shares

Per-Share fncome Shares  Per-Share Income

Shares

Per-Share

Income (loss) before cumulative

effect of change in accounting

principle $
Less: Preferred stock dividends

27,971
769

$ 6,844
(2,000)

$(18,608)
(2,000)

Basic EPS:
Income (loss) applicable to

common shareholders 27,202

28,668

oy
o
O
N

4,844 21,073 S 0.23  (20,608)

]
o
3
U
AVl

$ (1.00)

Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Plus: Incremental Shares from assumed
conversion Options

107

26

Diluted EPS:
Income (loss) applicable to common

shareholders with assumed conversions $ 27,202

28,775

§ 095 3 4844 21,099 § 023 $(20,608)

[
<
[,
N
N

$ (1.00) =

stock for all potentially dilutive common shares outstanding.

The above table provides a reconciliation of the computa-

tion of the bhasic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for

income before cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle (shares in thousands):

For the periods ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
2,500, 59,750, 691,200 shares of common stock issuable
under the Company’s stock option plans were excluded from
the calculation of diluted earnings per share because of the
antidilutive effect. Convertible preferred stock, convertible at
the holder’s option into 1,395,089 of the Company’s common
stock were not included in the computation of dilutive EPS

because of their antidilutive effect in 2003 and 2002.

In 2004, there were no common shares associated with the

Company’s 1.75% Convertible Senior Notes included in dilu-

tive EPS because the conversion price had not been met.

11. Income Taxes

Significant components of the income tax expense, before

minority interest and cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle, consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Federal:

Current benefit (expense) $ (6,378) S — $ 20,004

Deferred expense (7,860) (1.794) (7,486)
State:

Current expense — (708) 913)

Deferred (expense) benefit 656) (339 2,521
Total income tax

benefit (expense) $(14,804) S (2,841) $ 14,126
Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2002
includes a $1,500 reduction in reserves established for tax

contingencies.

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate
to the effective income tax rate on income (loss) before

cumulative effect of a
follows:

change in accounting principle is as

2004 2003 2002
Federal statutory rate 35% 35% 35%
Effect of:
Permanent differences — ) —
State taxes, net of
Federal benefit — 7 3
Minority interest — — )
Other — — 4
35% 33% 37%

Permanent differences primarily relate to the Company’s set-
tlement of prior year tax examinations, meal and entertain-
ment disallowance, certain state income tax credits and other

nondeductible expenses.

Significant components of the Company’s defe

and liabilities as of December 31 are as follows:

rred tax assets

2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued postretirement
benefit cost $ 17,721 $ 14,535
Accrued liabilities 9,930 14,942
NOL carried forward 5,425 4,487
Pension 5,925 7,296
Inventory write-clown — 2,246
Foreign tax credit 11,359 —
Valuation allowance (11,359) —
Deferred tax assets 39,001 43,506
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax over financial statement
depreciation (107,825) (96,051)
Equity contra — other
comprehensive income 29,739 864
Unrepatriated foreign earnings. (3,500) —
Net deferred tax liability $ (42,583) $ (51,681)

The net deferred tax liability of $42,585 at December 31,
2004, is net of a current deferred tax asset of §25,688. The
net deferred tax liability of $51,681 at December 31, 2003, is

.
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net of a current deferred tax asset of $3,413. At December
31, 2004, the Company has various state net operating loss
carryforwards totaling $22,800 which begin to expire in 2010,
in addition to $24,000 of foreign net operating loss carryfor-
wards which begin to expire in 2008.

12. Contingencies and Commitments

Environmental Contingencies

The Company believes its current environmental liabilities

do not have, and are not likely to have, a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of opera-
tions or liquidity. However, there can be no assurance that
future requirements at currently or formerly owned or operat-
ed properties will not result in liabilities which may have a
material adverse effect.

Century Aluminum of West Virginia, [nc. (“*Century of West
Virginia”) continues to perform remedial measures at its
Ravenswood facility pursuant to an order issued by the
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) in 1994 (the
*3008(h) Order”). Century of West Virginia also conducted a
RCRA facility investigation (“RFI”) under the 3008(h) Order
evaluating other areas at the Ravenswood facility that may
have contamination requiring remediation. The RFI has been
approved by appropriate agencies. Century of West Virginia
has completed interim remediation measures at two sites

. identified in the RFI, and the Company believes no further

remediation will be required. A Corrective Measures Study,
which will formally document the conclusion of these activi-
ties, is being completed with the EPA. The Company believes
a significant portion of the contamination on the two sites
identified in the RFI is attributable to the operations of Kaiser,
which had previously owned and operated the Ravenswood
facility, and is the financial responsibility of Kaiser.

On September 28, 2004, the Bankruptcy Court for the District
of Delaware approved an agreement by Kaiser to transfer its
environmental liability at Ravenswood to TRC Companies,
Inc., and TRC Environmental Corporation (collectively “TRC”).
The Bankruptcy Court also approved an agreement between,
Kaiser, TRC, Century of West Virginia and Pechiney Rolled
Products, Inc. (“Pechiney™), effective as of September 1, 2004,
pursuant to which TRC assumed all of Kaiser’s environmental
liabilities at Ravenswood. TRC also purchased insurance in
amounts the Company believes are sufficient to cover the
costs of any TRC liability at Ravenswood. Also, as of
September 1, 2004, Century of West Virginia and Pechiney
entered into an agreement releasing Century of West Virginia
from all of the environmental indemnification obligations for
Kaiser-related matters arising out of the Century of West
Virginia’s 1999 sale of the Ravenswood rolling mill to
Pechiney.

Under the Company’s agreement with Southwire Company to
purchase the Hawesville, Kentucky facility, Southwire indem-

nified the Company against all on-site environmental liabili-
ties known to exist prior to April 1, 2001 (the “Closing™) and
against risks associated with off-site hazardous material
disposals which pre-dated the Closing.

Prior to the Closing, the EPA had issued a final Record of
Decision (\ROD?), under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act. directing that cer-
tain response actions be taken at the Hawesville facility. By
agreement, Southwire is to perform all obligations under the
ROD. The total costs for the obligations to he undertaken
and paid for by Southwire relative to these liabilities are esti-
mated under the ROD to be $12,600, and the forecast of
annual operating and maintenance costs is $1.200. Century
Kentucky, LLC (“Century Kentucky™) will operate and main-
tain the ground water treaiment system required under the
ROD on behalf of Southwire, and Southwire will reimburse
Century Kentucky for any expense that exceeds $400
annually,

If any on-site environmental liabilities arising from pre-
Closing activities at the Hawesville facility that were
unknown at Closing, become known prior to March 31, 2007
the Company and Southwire will share the costs of remedial
action pro rata depending on the year the liability is identi-
fied. The Company will be responsible for all environmental
liabilities which first become known on or after March 31.
2007 and any post-Closing environmental liabilities which
result from a change in laws.

The Company acquired the Hawesville facility by purchasing
all of the outstanding equity securities of Metalsco Ltdl.
("Metalsco™), which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Southwire. Metalsco previously owned certain assets unrelat-
ed 1o the Hawesville plant’s operations. These assets were
distributed to Southwire prior to the Closing, and Southwire
indemnified the Company for all liabilities related to the
assets previously owned by Metalsco. Southwire also retained
ownership of and full responsibility for certain land adjacent

to the Hawesville facility containing potliner disposal arcus.

Southwire has secured its indemnity obligations to the
Company for environmental liabilities through April 1, 2008
by posting a letter of credit in the Company’s favor in the
amount of $14,000. Southwire is obligated to post an addi-
tional $15,000 if its net worth drops below a pre-determined
level prior to April 1, 2008, The amount of security Southwire
provides may increase (but not above $14.500 or $29,500, as
applicable) or decrease (hut not below $3,000) if certain
specified conditions are met.

The Company cannot be certain Southwire will be able to
meet its indemnity obligations. In that event, under certain
environmental laws which impose liability regardless of fauit.
the Company may be liable for any outstanding remedial
measures required under the ROD and for certain liabilities




related to the unwanted properties. If Southwire fails to meet
its indemnity obligations or if the Company’s shared or
assumed liability is significantly greater than anticipated, the
Company’s financial condition, results of operations and
liquidity could be materially adversely affected.

Century is a party to an EPA Administrative Order on
Consent (the “Order”) pursuant to which other past and
present owners of an alumina refining facility at St. Croix,
Virgin Islands have agreed 1o carry out a Hydrocarbon
Recovery Plan to remove and manage hydrocarbons floating
on groundwater underlying the facility. Pursuant to the
Hydrocarbon Recovery Plan, recovered hydrocarbons and
groundwater are delivered to the adjacent petroleum refinery
where they are received and managed. Lockheed Martin
Corporation (“Lockheed”), which sold the facility to one of
the Company’s affiliates, Virgin Islands Alumina Corporation
(“Vialco™), in 1989, has tendered indemnity and defense of
this matter to Vialco pursuant to terms of the Lockheed—
Vialco Asset Purchase Agreement. Management does not
believe Vialco's liability under the Order or its indemnity to
Lockheed will require material payments. Through December
31, 2004, the Company has expended approximately $440
on the Recovery Plan. Although there is no limit on the
obligation to make indemnification payments, the Company
expects the future potential payments under this indemnifica-
tion will be approximately $200 which may be offset in part
by sales of recoverable hydrocarbons.

The Company, along with others, including former owners of
its former St. Croix facility, received notice of a threatened
lawsuit alleging natural resource damages involving the sub-
surface contamination at the facility. Century has entered

into a Joint Defense Agreement with the other parties who
received notification of the threatened lawsuit. While it is not
presently possible to determine the outcome of this matter,
the Company’s known liabilities with respect to this and
other matters relating to compliance and cleanup, based on
current information, are not expected to be material and
should not materially adversely affect the Company’s operat-
ing results. However, if more stringent compliance or cleanup
standards under environmental laws or regulations are
imposed, previously unknown environmental conditions or
damages to natural resources are discovered, or if contribu-
tions from other responsible parties with respect to sites for
which the Company has cleanup responsibilities are not
available, the Company may be subject to additional liability,
which may be material.

Nordural is subject to various Icelandic and other environ-
mental laws and regulations. These laws and regulations are
subject to change, which changes could result in increased
costs. Operating in a foreign country exposes the Company
to political, regulatory, currency and other related risks. The
Nordural facility, built in 1998, uses technology currently
defined to be “best available technology” under the European

Union’s Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control Directive
of 1996, or IPPC. The operational restrictions for the Nordural
facility, as determined by the Icelandic Minister for the
Environment, are set forth in the facility’s operating license.
The license currently allows for both the facility’s current and
planned expansion capacity.

It is the Company’s policy to accrue for costs associated with
environmental assessments and remedial efforts when it
becomes probable that a lability has been incurred and the
costs can be reasonably estimated. The aggregate environ-
mental-related accrued liabilities were $596 and $694 at
December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. All
accrued amounts have been recorded without giving effect to
any possible future recoveries. With respect to ongoing envi-
ronmental compliance costs, including maintenance and
monitoring, such costs are expensed as incurred.

Because of the issues and uncertainties described above, and
the Company’s inability to predict the requirements of the
future environmental laws, there can be no assurance that
future capital expenditures and costs for environmental com-
pliance will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s future financial condition, results of operations, or
liquidity. Based upon all available information, management
does not believe that the outcome of these environmental
matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

Legal Contingencies

The Company has pending against it or may be subject to
various lawsuits, claims and proceedings related primarily to
employment, commercial, environmental and safety and
health matters. Although it is not presently possible to deter-
mine the outcome of these matters, management believes
their ultimate disposition will not have a material adverse
eftect on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations, or liquidity.

Power Commitments

The Hawesville facility currently purchases all of its power
from Kenergy Corporation (“Kenergy”), a local retail electric
cooperative, under a power supply contract that expires at
the end of 2010. Kenergy acquires the power it provides to
the Hawesville facility mostly from a subsidiary of LG&E
Energy Corporation (“LG&E?), with delivery guaranteed by
LG&E. The Hawesville facility currently purchases all of its
power from Kenergy at fixed prices. Approximately 121 MW
or 27% of the Hawesville facility’s power requirements are
unpriced in calendar years 2006 through 2010, The Company
will negotiate the price for the unpriced portion of the
contract at such times as the Company and Kenergy deem
appropriate. »

The Company purchases all of the electricity requirements for
the Ravenswood facility from Ohio Power Company, a unit




of American Electric Power Company, under a fixed price
power supply agreement that runs through December 31,
2005. On February 18, 2005, Century Aluminum of West
Virginia, Inc. signed an agreement with Appalachian Power
Company for the supply of electricity to the Ravenswood
facility beginning January 1, 2006. The agreement has an
initial term of two years and continues thereafter until
Century gives 12 moenths notice of cancellation. Appalachian
Power has filed a petition with the Public Services
Commission of West Virginia (“PSC") seeking affirmation of
its authorization to provide service to the Ravenswood facil-
ity. In 2000, the PSC found that the Ravenswood facility was
in Appalachian Power’s service territory and had jurisdiction
over the provision of service. The agreement will become
effective unless the PSC fails to affirm its previous findings.
Power under the new agreement is priced under an
Appalachian Power tariff.

The Mt. Holly facility purchases all of its power from the
South Carolina Public Service Authority at rates established
by published schedules. The Mt. Holly facility’s current
power contract expires December 31, 2015. Power delivered
through 2010 will be priced as set forth in currently pub-
lished schedules, subject to adjustments for fuel costs. Rates
for the period 2011 through 2015 will be as provided under
then-applicable schedules.

The Nordural facility purchases power from Landsvirkjun, a
power company jointly owned by the Republic of Iceland
and two Icelandic municipal governments, under a4 contract
due to expire in 2019. The power delivered to the Nordural
facility under its current contract is from hydroelectric and
geothermal sources, both competitively-priced and renewable
sources of power in Iceland, at a rate based on the London
Metal Exchange (“"LME") price for primary aluminum. In con-
nection with the planned expansion, Nordural has entered
into a power contract with Hitaveita Sudurnesja hf.
(“Sudurnes Energv”) and Orkuveita Reykjavikur (“Reykjavik
Energy™ for the supply of the additional power required for
the expansion capacity. Power under this agreement will be
generated from geothermal resources and prices will be
LME-based. By the terms of a Second Amendment to the
Landsvirkjun/Nordural Power Contract, dated as of April 21,
2004, Landsvirkjun has agreed on a best commercial efforts
basis to provide backup power to Nordural should Sudurnes
Energy or Reykjavik Energy be unable to meet the obliga-
tions of their contract to provide power for the Nordural
expansion.

The Company may suffer fosses due to a temporary or pro-
longed interruption of the supply of electrical power to its
tacilities, which can be caused by unusually high demand.
Blackou[s, equipment failure, natural disasters or other cata-
strophic events. The Company uses large amounts of electric-
ity to produce primary aluminum, and any loss of power
which causes an equipment shutdown can result in the hard-

ening or “freezing” of molten aluminum in the pots where it
is produced. If this occurs, the Company may lose produc-
tion for a prolonged period of time and incur significant loss-
es. Although the Company maintains property and business
interruption insurance to mitigate losses resulting from cata-
strophic events, the Company may still be required to pay
significant amounts under the deductible provisions of those
insurance policies. Century’s coverage may not be sufficient
1o cover all losses, or certain events may not be covered. For
example. certain of Century’s insurance policies do not cover
any losses the Company may incur if its suppliers are unuble
to provide the Company with power during periods of
unusually high demand. Certain material losses which are
not covered by insurance may trigger a default under the
Company’s Revolving Credit Facility. No assurance can be
given that a material shutdown will not occur in the future
or that such a shutdown would not have a material adverse

effect on the Company.

Labor Commitments

Approximately 81% of the Company’'s U.S. based workforce
are represented by the United Steelworker's of America (the
“USWA™) and are working under agreements that expire as
follows: March 31, 2006 (Hawesville) and May 31, 2006
(Ravenswood).

There are six national labor unions representing approxi-
mately 80% of Nordural's work force. The current contract
with these unions expired on December 31, 2004. The terms

of a new contract are currently being negotiated.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

The Company’s income tax returns are periodically examined
by various rax authorities. The Company is currently under
audit by the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS™) for the tax
years through 2002, In connection with such examinations,
the IRS has raised issues and proposed tax deficiencies. The
Company is reviewing the issues raised by the IRS and plans
to contest the proposed tax deficiencies. The Company does
not believe that the outcome of the tax audit will have «
material impact on the Company’s financial condition or
results of operations.

In connection with the acquisition of the Hawesville facility,
the Company would be required o make post-closing pay-
ments to Southwire of up to $7,000. if LME prices exceed
specified levels during any of the seven vears following
closing. If the LME price remains at current levels, the
entire $7,000 will become due in April 2003,

At December 31, 2004, the Compuny had outstanding capital
commitments related to the Nordural expansion of $218.800.
The Company's cost commitments tor the Nordural expun-
sion may materially change depending on the exchange rate
between the U.S. dollar and certain foreign currencies, princi-

pally the euro and the Icelandic krona.



13. Forward Delivery Contracts
and Financial Instruments

As a producer of primary aluminum products, the Company
is exposed to fluctuating raw material and primary aluminum
prices. The Company routinely enters into fixed and market
priced contracts for the sale of primary aluminum and the
purchase of raw materials in future periods.

Alumina Tolling

Nordural is party to a long-term alumina tolling contract with
a subsidiary of BHP Billiton (the “Tolling Agreement™) which
is due to expire December 31, 2013. Under this contract,
which is for all of the Nordural facility’s existing production
capacity, Nordural receives an LME-based fee for the conver-
sion of alumina, supplied by BHP Billiton, into primary alu-
minum. As of August 1, 2004, the Company entered into a
ten-year alumina toll conversion agreement with Glencore for
approximately 198.4 million pounds per year of Nordural’s
expansion capacity. That contract also provides Nordural
with an LME-based fee. The contract is effective in late-2006.

Primary Aluminum Sales Agreements

Century has a contract with Pechiney (the “Pechiney Metal
Agreement”) under which Pechiney purchases 23 to 27 mil-
lion pounds, per month, of molten aluminum produced at
the Ravenswood facility through December 31, 2005, at a
price determined by reference to the U.S. Midwest Market
Price. This contract will be automatically extended through
July 31, 2007 provided that the Company’s power contract for
the Ravenswood facility is extended or replaced through that
date. Pechiney has the right, upon 12 months’ notice, to
reduce its purchase obligations by 50% under this contract.
In December 2003, Alcan Inc. (“Alcan™) completed an acqui-
sition of Pechiney and as a result assumed the Pechiney
metal agreement.

The Pechiney rolling mill that purchases primary aluminum
from the Company under this contract is located adjacent to
the Ravenswood facility, which requires the Company 1o
deliver molten aluminum, thereby reducing its casting and
shipping costs. If Alcan materially reduces its purchases or
fails to renew the contract when it expires, the Company’s
casting, shipping and marketing costs at the Ravenswood
facility would increase.

On April 1, 2000, the Company entered into an agreement
with Glencore, expiring December 31, 2009, to sell and deliv-
er monthly, primary aluminum totaling approximately 110
million pounds per year at a fixed price for the years 2002
through 2009 (the “Original Sales Contract”). In January 2003,
Century and Glencore agreed to terminate and settle the
Original Sales Contract for the years 2005 through 2009. At
that time, the parties entered into a new contract (the “New
Sales Contract”) that requires Century to deliver the same
quantity of primary aluminum as. did the Original Sales

Contract for these years. The New Sales Contract provides for
variable pricing determined by reference to the LME for the
years 2005 through 2009. For deliveries through 2004, the
price of primary aluminum delivered was fixed.

Prior to the January 2003 agreement to terminate and settle
the years 20035 though 2009 of the Original Sales Contract,
the Company had been classitying and accounting for it as a
normal sales contract under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” A contract
that is so designated and that meets other conditions estab-
lished by SFAS No. 133 is exempt from the requirements of
SFAS No. 133, although by its terms the contract would
otherwise be accounted for as a derivative instrument.
Accordingly, prior to January 2003, the Original Sales
Contract was recorded on an accrual basis of accounting and
changes in the fair value of the Original Sales Contract were
not recognized.

According to SFAS No. 133, it must be probable that at incep-
tion and throughout its term, a contract classified as “normal”
will not result in a net settlement and will result in physical
delivery. In April 2003, the Company and Glencore net set-
tled a significant portion of the Original Sales Contract, and it
no longer qualified for the “normal” exception of SFAS No.
133. The Company marked the Original Sales Contract to
current fair value in its entirety. Accordingly, in the first quar-
ter of 2003 the Company recorded a derivative asset and a
pre-tax gain of $41,700. Of the total recorded gain, $26,100
related to the favorable terms of the Original Sales Contract
for the years 2005 through 2009, and $15,600 relates to the
favorable terms of the Original Sales Contract for 2003
through 2004.

The Company determined the fair value by estimating the
excess of the contractual cash flows of the Original Sales
Contract (using contractual prices and quantities) above the
estimated cash flows of a contract based on identical quanti-
ties using LME-quoted prevailing forward market prices for
aluminum plus an estimated U.S. Midwest premium adjusted
for delivery considerations. The Company discounted the
excess estimated cash flows to present value using a
discount rate of 7%.

On April 1, 2003, the Company received $35,300 from
Glencore, $26,100 of which related to the settlement of the
Original Sales Contract for the years 2005 through 2009, and
$9,400 of which represented the fair value of the New Sales
Contracts discussed below. In January 2003, the Company
began accounting for the unsettled portion of the Original
Sales Contract (vears 2003 and 2004) as a derivative and rec-
ognizing period-to-period changes in fair value in currenit
income. The Company also accounts for the New Sales
Contract as a derivative instrument under SFAS No. 133.
The Company has not designated the New Sales Contract as
“normal” because it replaces and substitutes for a significant
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' portion of the Original Sales Contract which, after January

2003, no longer qualified for this designation. The $9,400 ini-
tial fair value of the New Sales Contract is a derivative liabili-
ty and represents the present value of the contract’s favorable
term to Glencore in that the New Sales Contract excludes
from its variable price an estimated U.S. Midwest premium,
adjusted for delivery considerations. Because the New Sales
Contract is variably priced, the Company does not expect sig-
nificant variability in its fair value, other than changes that
might result from the absence of the U.S. Midwest premium.

In connection with the acquisition of the Hawesville facility
in April 2001, the Company entered into a 10-year contract
with Southwire (the “Southwire Metal Agreement”) to supply
240 million pounds of high-purity molten aluminum annually
to Southwire’s wire and cable manufacturing facility located
adjacent to the Hawesville facility. Under this contract,
Southwire will also purchase 60.0 million pounds of standard
grade molten aluminum each year for the first five years of
the contract, with an option to purchase an equal amount in
each of the remaining five years. Southwire has exercised
this option through 2008. Prior to the acquisition of the 20%
interest in the Hawesville facility on April 1, 2003, the
Company and Glencore were each responsible for providing
a pro rata portion of the aluminum supplied to Southwire
under this contract. In connection with the Company’s acqui-
sition of the 20% interest in the Hawesville facility, the
Company assumed Glencore’s delivery obligations under the
Southwire Metal Agreement. The price for the molten alu-
minum to be delivered to Southwire from the Hawesville
facility is variable and will be determined by reference to the
U.S. Midwest Market Price. This agreement expires on March
31, 2011, and will automatically renew for additional five-
year terms, unless either party provides 12 months' notice
that it has elected not to renew.

In connection with the acquisition of the 20% interest in the
Hawesville facility, the Company entered into a ten-year con-
tract with Glencore (the “Glencore Metal Agreement”) from
2004 through 2013 under which Glencore will purchase
approximately 45 million pounds per year of primary alu-
minum produced at the Ravenswood and Mt. Holly facilities,
at prices based on then-current market prices, adjusted by a
negotiated U.S. Midwest premium with a cap and a floor as
applied to the current U.S. Midwest premium.

Apart from the Pechiney Metal Agreement, the New Sales
Contract, the Glencore Metal Agreement and the Southwire
Metal Agreement, the Company had forward delivery con-
tracts to sell 249.4 million pounds and 351.8 million pounds
of primary aluminum at December 31, 2004 and December
31, 2003, respectively. Of these forward delivery contracts,
the Company had fixed price commitments to sell 13.3 mil-
lion pounds and 70.5 million pounds of primary aluminum at
December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively, of
which, no forward delivery contracts and 33.5 million pounds

at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively,
were with Glencore.

Alumina Purchase Agreements

The Company is party to long-term supply agreements swith
Glencore for the supply of alumina to the Company’s
Ravenswood and Mt. Holly facilities that extend through
December 2006 and January 2008 at prices indexed to the
price of primary aluminum quoted on the LME.

Prior to October 1, 2004, the Company purchased the alumi-
na used at its Hawesville facility from Kaiser under a long
term agreement that ran through December 2006, Kaiser filed
for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in
February 2002. Subsequent to that date, and with bankruptey
court approval, Kaiser agreed to assume the Company's alu-
mina supply agreement and a new alumina supply agree-
ment for the Company's Hawesville facility for the vears 2006
through 2008. Through September 30, 2004, Kaiser continued
to supply alumina to the Company pursuant to the terms of
its agreement.

On October 1, 2004, the Company and Noranda Finance, Inc.
jointly acquired the Gramercy alumina refinery and related

Jamaican bauxite mining assets from Kaiser for $23,000, sub-

ject to closing adjustments. Century and Noranda each paid
one-half, or $11,500, of the purchase price. See Note 2,
“Acquisitions.”

The price the Company pays for alumina used by the
Hawesville facility is now based on the cost of alumina pro-
duction, rather than the LME price for primary aluminum.
Those production costs may be materially higher than an
LME-based price. The impact of the Gramercy acquisition to
the Company’s cost of goods sold may not be materially dif-
ferent than under the Company’s existing LME-based con-
tracts with Gramercy in periods of high aluminum prices
such as the Company is currently experiencing. However, the
Company believes that the price of alumina based on pro-
duction costs at Gramercy could be materially higher than
under the LME-based contract price in periods when abu-

minum prices are low and natural gas prices are high.

Anode Purchase Agreement

Nordural has a contract for the supply of anodes for its exist-
ing capacity which expires in 2013. Pricing for the anode
contract is variable and is indexed to the raw material market
for petroleum coke products, certain labor rates, and mainte-
nance cost indices.

Financial Sales and Purchase Agreemerts

At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, the Company
had fixed price financial sales contracts, primarily with
Glencore, for 1,686.4 million pounds and 102.9 million
pounds of primary aluminum, respectively, of which 1,023.7
million pounds and 38.8 million pounds, respectively, were




designated cash flow hedges. Beginning in 20006, certain of
these sales contracts contain clauses that trigger additional
shipment volume when the market price for a period is
above the contract ceiling price for that period. These con-
tracts are evaluated monthly and the maximum additional
shipment volume over the life of the contract would be 662.7
million pounds, if the market price exceeds the ceiling price
for all months during the term of the contract. These fixed
price financial sales contracts are scheduled for settlement at
various dates in 2005 through 2010. The Company had no
fixed price financial purchase contracts to purchase alu-
minum at December 31, 2004 or December 31, 2003.

Fixed Price Financial Sales
Contracts at December 31, 2004:
Primary Aluminum
(Millions of pounds)

2005 425.7
2006 ' 370.3
2007 374.6
2008 185.2
2009 ’ 165.3
2010 165.3
Total 1,686.4

Additionally, to mitigate the volatility of the natural gas mar-
kets, the Company enters into fixed price financial purchase
contracts, accounted for as cash flow hedges, which settle in
cash in the period corresponding to the intended usage of
natural gas. At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003,
the Company had fixed price financial purchase contracts for
4.3 million and 2.7 million DTH (one decatherm is equivalent
to one million British Thermal Units), respectively. These
financial instruments are scheduled for settlement at various
dates in 2005 through 2008. )

Fixed Price Financial Purchase
Contracts at December 31, 2004:

Natural Gas

(Thousands of DTH)
2005 2,880
2006 480
2007 480
2008 480
Total 4,320

Based on the fair value of the Company’s fixed price finan-
cial sales contracts and financial purchase contracts financial
instruments as of December 31, 2004, accumulated other
comprehensive loss of $30,215 is expected to be reclassified
as a reduction to earnings over the next 12 month period.

The forward financial sales and purchase contracts are sub-
ject to the risk of non-performance by the counterparties.
However, the Company only enters into forward financial
contracts with counterparties it determines to be creditwor-
thy. If any counterparty failed to perform according to the

terms of the contract, the accounting impact would be limit-
ed 1o the difference between the nominal value of the con-
tract and the market value on the date of settlement.

14. Asset Retirement Obligations

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations.” This Statement establishes standards for
accounting for legal obligations associated with the retire-
ment of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset
retirement costs. The Company adopted the Standard during
the first quarter of 2003. SFAS No. 143 requires that the
Company record the fair value of a legal liability for an asset
retirement obligation (“ARO”) in the period in which it is
incurred and capitalize the ARO by increasing the carrying
amount of the related asset. The lability is accreted to its
present value each period and the capitalized cost is depreci-
ated over the useful life of the related asset. The Company’s
asset retirement obligations consist primarily of costs associat-
ed with the removal and disposal of reduction plant spent
pot liner.

With the adoption of SFAS No. 143 on January 1, 2003,
Century recorded an ARO asset of $6,848, net of accumulated
amortization of $7,372, a deferred tax asset of $3,430 and an
ARO liability of $14,220. The net amount initially recognized
as a result of applying the Statement is reported as a cumula-
tive effect of a change in accounting principle. The Company
recorded a one-time, non-cash charge of $5,878, for the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. During
the year ended December 31, 2003, $1,795 of the additional
ARO liability incurred is related to the acquisition of the 20%
interest in the Hawesville facility.

The reconciliation of the changes in the asset retirement
obligations is presented below:

For the Year Ended December 31,

_ 2004 2003
Beginning Balance, ARO Liability $ 16,495 $ 14,220
Additional ARO Liability incurred 1,383 3,402
ARO Liabilities settled (3,37 (2,423)
Accretion Expense 2,733 1,296
Ending Balance, ARO Liability $ 17,232 $ 16,495

15. Related Party Transactions

The significant related party transactions occurring during
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, are
described below.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors of Century is a
member of the Board of Directors of Glencore International
AG. One of Ceniury’s Board members is the Chairman of
the Board of Directors of Glencore International AG.
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The Company had notes receivable with officers of the
Company of $230 and $450 at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. These notes receivable were all existing loans
issued prior to the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and have not been modified since that date. As of
March 15, 2000, no amounts were outstanding under any of
these notes receivable.

The Company enters into forward financial sales and
hedging contracts with Glencore to help manage exposure to
fluctuating primary aluminum prices. Management believes
that all of its forward financial sales and hedge contracts with
Glencore approximated market at the time of placing the
contracts.

Century of West Virginia has purchased alumina, and
purchased and sold primary aluminum in transactions with
Glencore at prices which management believes approximated
market.

Berkeley has purchased alumina, and purchased and sold
primary aluminum in transactions with Glencore at prices
which management believes approximated market.

Century of Kentucky has purchased and sold primary
aluminum in transactions with Glencore at prices which
management believes approximated market.

During 2003, all of Century’s facilities participated in primary
aluminum swap arrangements with Glencore at prices which
management believes approximated market.

Summary

A summary of the aforementioned related party transactions
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as
follows:

2004 2003 2002

Net salestl $ 163,209 S 121,886 S 107.594

Purchases 131,427 99,185 97,469
Management fees

from Glencore — 121 485

(1) Net sales includes gains and losses realized on the setlement of financial contracis

See Note 13 for a discussion of the Company’s fixed-price
commitments, forward financial contracts, and contract
settlements with related parties.

16. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Year Fnded December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Cash paid for:
Interest
Income taxes
Cash received from:
Interest 1,088
Income tax refunds 80 9,489

Non-Cash Activities

In the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company had two
significant non-cash equity transactions. In April 2004, the
Company issued approximately 67,000 shares of common
stock to satisty a performance share lability of $1,630 to
certain emplovees of the Company. Additonally, in May
2004, Glencore exercised its option to convert its shares

of cumulative convertible preferred stock. The Company
issued 1,395,089 shares of common stock in exchange for
Glencore's §25,000 of preferred stock, see Note 8. During
2003, the Company incurred $40,000 of borrowings in the
form of seller financing related to the acquisition of the 20%
interest in the Hawesville facility. During 2002, the Compiny
made non-cash contributions to the Company’s pension
plans, consisting of 500,000 shares of the Compuany's
common stock valued at $3,130.

During the vears ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
interest cost incurred in the construction ot equipment of
$668, $685 and $810, respectively, was capitalized.

17. Business Segments

The Company operates in only one reportable business seg-
ment, primary aluminum. The primary aluminum segment
produces molten metal, rolling ingot. t-ingot. extrusion billet
and foundry ingot.

A reconciliation of the Company's consolidated assets to the
total of primary aluminum segment assets is provided below.

Corporaie,

Segment Assets 17 Priman: Unertlocated Totetl Assels

2004 S 1,305485 $ 25385 $ 1.330.870
2003 793.101 17.225 810,326
2002 742,672 22,495 763,167

1 Sepment ussets include accounts receivable. due from affilintes inventory. intungible
assets. and property. plant and equipment-net: the remaining asscts e unallocited corpo-

rate wssets, and deferred wx assets

Geographic information
Included in the consolidated finuncidd statements are the fol-
lowing amounts related to geographic locations:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 20003 20002

Net Sales:

United States $ 974,481 S 779.229 5 711003
Other 86.260 3.250 335
Long-lived assets:

United States S 015.618 S 0622921 S 509,191
Other 431,161 — —



Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

S % $ % $ %
Pechiney 301,033 28.4 198,448 25.4 220,729 31.0
Southwire 258,320 24.4 199,067 25.4 157,599 2272
Glencore. 163,209 15.4 121,886 15.6 107,594 15.1

Major Customer information

In 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Company had three major cus-
tomers whose sales revenue exceeded 10% of the net sales
of the Company. The revenue and percentage of net sales for
these customers are as shown above:

18. Qum«:rﬂy Information (Unaudited)

The following information includes the results from the
Company’s 20% interest in the Hawesville facility since its
acquisition on April 1, 2003, the results from the Nordural
facility since the Company acquired it in April 2004 and the
equity in earnings of the GAL and SABL joint venture since
the Company acquired its interest in October 2004.

Financial results by quarter for the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003 are as shown in the chart below:

19. Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

The Company’s 11.75% Senior Secured First Mortgage Notes
due 2008, 7.5% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2014, and 1.75%
Convertible Senior Notes due 2024 are jointly and severally
and fully and unconditionally guaranteed by all of the
Company’s wholly-owned direct and indirect domestic sub-
sidiaries other than the LLC and a subsidiary formed in con-
nection with the Nordural acquisition (together with the com-
pany’s foreign subsidiaries, the “Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries”).
The Company’s policy for financial reporting purposes is to

allocate expenses to subsidiaries. For the vears ended
December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003, and December 31,
2002, the Company allocated total corporate expenses of
$1,452, $9,139 and $10,900 to its subsidiaries, respectively.
Additionally, the Company charges interest on certain
intercompany balances.

Because certain Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries are not “minor”
as defined in Rule 3-10(f) of Regulation $-X under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Company
is providing the condensed consolidating financial informa-
tion required under Rule 3-10(f). See Note 5 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for information about

the terms of these notes.

The following summarized condensed consolidating balance
sheets as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003,
condensed consolidating statements of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003 and
December 31, 2002 and the condensed consolidating state-
ments of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2004
and December 31, 2003 present separate results for Century
Aluminum Company, the Guarantor Subsidiaries and the
Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.

This summarized condensed consolidating financial informa-
tion may not necessarily be indicative of the results of opera-
tions or financial position had the Company, the Guarantor
Subsidiaries or the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries operated as
independent entities.

Net Income (Loss)

Before Cumutlative Net Income

Net Gross Effect of Change in Net Income (Loss)
Sales Profit  Accounting Principle (Loss) per Share
2004:
4th Quarter $ 290,603 $ 50,865 $ 20,932 $ 20,932 0.65
3rd Quarter 274,317 43,369 (16,049) (16,049 .50
2nd Quarter 263,733 45,191 18,288 18,288 0.61
1st Quarter 232,094 37,049 4,800 - 4,800 0.20
2003:
4th Quarter (23 $ 205815 $ 22517 $ (6,255) $ (6,25%) $ (032
3rd Quarter 201,488 10,040 (5,367) (5,367) (0.28)
2nd Quarter 196,167 7,776 (5,007) (5,007 0.26)
1st Quarter 4O® 179,009 7,706 23,473 17,595 0.81

(1) The third quarter 2004 net income includes a charge of $30,367, net of tax, for a loss on the early extinguishment of debt.

(2) The fourth quarter 2003 gross profit includes credits of $5,905 for lower cost of market inventory adjustments.,

(3) The fourth quarter 2003 net income includes a charge of $2,004, net of tax, related 10 an executive resignation,

(4) The first quarter 2003 net income includes a gain of $26,129, net of tax, related 1o a contract termination.

(5) The first quarter 2003 net income includes a charge of $5,878, net of tax, for the’ cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Ohligations.”
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING

BALANCE SHEET

As of December 31. 2004

Combined
Gudranlor

Subsidiaries

Combined

Non-Guardntor

Subsidiaries

The

Compeny

Reclassifications

and

Eliminations

Consoltdated

Assets
Current Assets:

" Cash and cash equivalents 185 $ 1.759 $ 42224 S — 44,168
Restricted cash 1,174 3504 — — 1.6078
Accounts receivable — net 71,051 8,449 76 — 79.376
Due from affiliates 168,328 8,142 684.458 (846,557 14,371
Inventories 69,535 39,020 — 108.555
Prepaid and other assets 1,514 4,299 4,242 — 10,055
Deferred taxes — current portion 25,395 293 — — 25,688

Total current assets 337182 62,466 731.000 (846,557) 284,001
Investment in subsidiaries 06,393 — 208,495 (334,888) —
Property, plant and equipment — net 464,418 341,692 140 — 800,230
Intangible asset — net — 36,809 — — 50,809
Goodwill — 95,610 — — 93,610
Other assets 20,3291 16,792 20,927 — 358110

Total S 888,384 S 603.369 S 1,020,562 §(1,181,445) 1,330,870

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable, trade 12,000 S 35.479 $ — $ — 47,479
Due to affiliates 83,819 1,911 162,150 (163,065 84.815
Industrial revenue bonds 7.815 — — — 7.815
Accrued and other current liabilities 15,545 10,023 27.741 — 33.309
Long term debt — current portion — 704 9.878 — 10,582
Accrued employee benefits costs —

current portion 6,507 1,951 — — 8.458
Convertible senior notes — — 173,000 — 175,000

Total current liabilities 125,686 50,068 374,769 (163,065) 387 458
Senior unsecured notes payable — — 250,000 — 250,000
Nordural debt — 80,711 — — 80,711
Accrued pension benefit costs —

less current portion — — 10.683 — 10,685
Accrued postretirement benefit costs —

less current portion 56,947 27.812 790 — $5.549
Other liabilities/intercompany loan 479,213 239,124 — (683,376) 34,961
Due to affiliates — less current portion 30,416 — — — 30,416
Deferred taxes 47,509 19,379 1,501 (116 68.273

Total noncurrent liabilities 614,085 367,026 262,976 (683.492) 560,595
Shareholders’ Equity:

Common stock 59 13 320 (72) 320

Additional paid-in capital 188,424 242 818 415,453 (431.242) 415433

Accumulated other comprehensive

income (loss) (51,603) (521 (52,186) 52,186 (52.180)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 11,795 (56,035 19,230 44 240 19,230
Total shareholders’ equity 148,613 186,275 382.817 (334,888) 382817
Total 888,384 $ 603,369 § 1,020,562 $(1,181.445) $ 1,330.870




CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING

BALANCE SHEET

|
|
As of December 31, 2003 . i :/
Combined Reclassifications " ,,
Guarantor Non-Guarantor The and | "4
Subsidiaries Substdiaries Company Eliminations Consolidated -
s
Assets Ej
Current Assets: -
Cash and cash equivalents 104 $ — S 28,100 $ — $ 28,204 :
Accounts receivable — net 51,131 239 — — 51,370
Due from affiliates 101,489 23,586 435,025 (569,143) 10,957 ot
Inventories 76,878 12,482 — — 89,360
Prepaid and other assets 4,263 134 3,117 — 7,514
Total current assets 233,865 36,441 486,242 (569,143) 187,405
Investment in subsidiaries 78,720 — 178,483 (257,203) —
Property, plant and equipment — net 489,502 5,299 156 — 494,957
Intangible asset — net — 99,136 — — 99,136
Other assets 14,877 —_ 13,951 — 28,828
Total 816,964 $ 140,876 $ 678,832 $ (826,346) $ 810,326
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable, trade 13,137 $ 21,692 $ — $ — $ 34,829
Due to affiliates 25,392 525 116,538 (115,310) 27,139
Industrial revenue bonds 7,815 — _ — 7,815
Accrued and other current liabilities 8,929 5,740 15,485 — 30,154
Accrued employee benefits costs —
current portion 7,306 1,628 — — 8,934
Total current liabilities 62,579 29,585 132,023 (115,316 108,871
Senior secured notes payable — — 322,310 — 322,310
Notes payable — affiliates — — 14,000 — 14,000
Accrued pension benefit costs —
less current portion — — 10,764 — 10,764
Accrued postretirement benefit costs —
less current portion 53,234 24,334 650 — 78,218
Other liabilities 478,892 8,237 — (453,757 33,372
Deferred taxes 43776 — 11,388 ) 55,094
Total noncurrent liabilities 575,902 32,571 359,112 (453,827) 513,758
Shareholders’ Equity:
Convertible preferred stock — — 25,000 — 25,000
Common stock 59 — 211 6] 211
Additional paid-in capital 188,424 133,175 173,138 (321,599) 173,138
Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) (4,582) — (5,222) 4,582 (5,222)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (5,418) (54,45%) (5,430) 59,873 (5,430)
Total shareholders’ equity 178,783 78,720 187,697 (257,203) 187,697
Total 816,964 $ 140,876 $ 678,832 $ (826,346) $ 810,326
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31. 2004

Combined Combined ) Reclassifications
Guarantor Non-Guarantor The cricd
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Company Lliminations Consolicdated
Net sales:
Third-party customers $ 811,705 $ 85,833 $ — S — S 897.338
Related parties 163.209 — — — 163.209
974,914 85,833 — — 1.060.747

Cost of goods sold 814,080 407,650 — (337.457) 884.273
Reimbursement from owners — (337,738) — 337.738 —
Gross profit (loss) 160,834 15,921 — (281) 176.474
Selling, general and admin expenses 24,916 — — — 24,916
Operating income (loss) 135,918 15,921 — (281) 151,558
Interest expense — third party (36,281) (3,665) — — (39.946)
Interest expense — related party (380) (9,078) — 9,078 (350)
Interest income 9,872 172 — (8,958) 1.086
Net gain (loss) on forward contracts (21,521 — — — (21,521
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (47,448) — - — (47,448)
Other income (expense) — net (1,380) 43 — 32 . (1.305)
Income (loss) before taxes and

equity in earnings (loss) of subsidiaries 38,780 3,393 — (129) 42.044
Income tax (expense) benefit (13,916) (5,709) — 4,731 (14.894)
Net income (loss) before equity

in earnings (loss) of subsidiaries 24,864 (2,316) — 4,602 27.150
Equity earnings (loss) of subsidiaries (7,642) 821 27,971 (20,329 321
Net income (loss) S 17,222 $ (1,493 $ 27971 S (15727 S 27971




CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING B
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS B

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003

Combined Reclassifications
Guarantor ] Non-Guarantor The and
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Company Eliminations Consolidated
Net sales: .
Third-party customers $ 660,593 $ — $ — $ — § 660,393
Related parties 121,886 — — — 121,886
782,479 — — — 782,479
Cost of goods sold ' 715,816 334,020 — (315,393) 734,441
Reimbursement from owners — (315,519) — 315,519 —
Gross profit (loss) 66,663 (18,501) — (124) 48,038
Selling, general and admin expenses 20,833 — — — 20,833
Operating income (loss) 45,830 (18,501) — (124 27,205
Interest expense — third party (41,248) (124 — 103 (41,269
Interest expense — related party (2,579 — — — (2,579
Interest income 339 — — — 339
Net gain on forward contracts 25,691 — — — 25,691
Other income (expense) — net (653) (56) — 21 (688)
Income (loss) before taxes, minority
interest and cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle 27,830 (18,681) — — 8,699
Income tax (expense) benefit (9,564) — — 6,723 (2,841)
Net income (loss) before minority
interest and cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle 17,816 (18,681) — 6,723 5,858
Minority interest — — — 986 980
Net income (loss) before cumulative
effect of a change in accounting
principle 17,816 (18,681) — 7,709 6,844
Cumulative effect of a change in ,
accounting principle (5,878) — — — (5,878)
Equity earnings (loss) of subsidiaries (10,972) — 966 10,006 —

Net income (Joss) $ 966 $  (18,681) $ 966 $ 17,715 $ 966




CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

= |

/: ( For the Year Ended December 31, 2002

z Combined Reclassifications

ES Guararntor Non-Guaranlor The and

£ i Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Company Liiminations Consolidated

7 J Net sales:

;’ i Third-party customers § 003,744 $ — S — $ — $ 603,744

B Related parties 107,594 — — — 107,394

z | 711,338 — — — 711,338

z Cost of goods sold 665,032 279,614 . — (253.369) 691,277

B Reimbursement from owners — (253,541) — 253541 —
Gross profit (loss) 46,306 (26,073) — (172) 20,061
Selling, general and admin expenses 15,783 — — — 15,783
Operating income (loss) 30,523 (26,073) — (172) 4,278
Interest expense (40,813) (134) — 134 (40,813)
Interest income 392 — — 392
Other income (expense), net (1,830) GD — 38 (1,843}
Income (loss) before taxes (11,728 (26,258) — — (37.986)
Income tax (expense) benefit 6,144 — — 7.982 14,126
Net income (loss) before minority interest (5,584) (26,258) — 7.982 (23,860)
Minority interest — — — 252 5.252

(18,608)

Equity earnings (loss) of subsidiaries (13,024) — (18,608)
Net income (loss) $  (18,608) $(26,238) $  (18,608) $
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

Combined
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Combined Reclassifications
Non-Guaranior The and
Subsidiaries Company Eliminations

Consolidated

Net cash provided by

operating activities $ 14,071 $ 91,757 $ — $ 105,828
Investing activities: i

Purchase of property, plant

and equipment (6,814) (8,426) — (15,240)

Nordural expansion — (59,784) — (59,784)

Acquisitions — — (198,584) (198,584)

Restricted cash deposits (1,174) (504 — (1,678)
Net cash used in investing activities (7,988) (68,714) (198,584) (275,286)
Financing activities:

Borrowings — 883 425,000 425,883

Repayment of third party debt — (110,826) (315,055) (425,881)

Repayment of related party debt — — (14,000) (14,000

Financing fees — — (13,062) (13,062)

Dividends — — (3,311) (3,31D

Intercompany transactions (6,002) 88,659 (82,657 —

Issuance of common stock — — 215,793 215,793
Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities (6,002) (21,284) 212,708 185,422
Net increase (decrease) in cash 81 1,759 14,124 15,964
Beginning cash 104 — 28,100 28,204
Ending cash $ 185 $ 1,759 $ 427224 $ 44,168
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended Decemiber 31, 2003

Combined Reclassifications
Gudrantor Non-Gudrarior The and
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Competiy Elimintions Consolidated
Net cash provided by
operating activities S 72,825 $ 14,554 $ — S — 5 87.379
Investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment (15,809) (3.049) - — (18.838)
Acquisitions — — (59,837) — (59,837)
Net cash used in investing activities (15,809) (3,049) (59.837) — (78,695)
Financing activities:
Payments — — (26,000) — (26.000)
Financing fees — — (297) — (297)
Dividends — — (1D — (i
Intercompany transactions (57.657) (11,505) 69,162 — —
Issuance of common stock — — 736 — 730
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities (57.657) (11,505) 43,590 — (25,572)
Net increase (decrease) in cash (641) — (16,247) — (16.888)
Beginning cash 745 — 44,347 — 43.092
Ending cash $ 104 S — S 28100 S — S 28,204




CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2002

Canbined Reclassifications
Guarantor Non-Guarantor The and
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Company Eliminations Consolidated
Net cash provided by ‘ :
operating activities $ 40,245 $ 14,241 $ — $ — $ 54,486
Investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment (17,371) (1,056) — — (18,427)
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment 231 — — — 231
Net cash used in investing activities (17,140 (1,056) — — (18,196)
Financing activities:
Dividends — — (4,591) — (4,59
Intercompany transactions (23,380) (13,185) 36,565 — —
Issuance of common stock — — 5 — 5
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities (23,380 (13,185 31,979 — (4,586)
Net increase (decrease) in cash (275) — 31,979 — 31,704
Beginning cash 1,020 — 12,368 — 13,388
Ending cash $ 745 $ — $ 44347 $ —

$ 45,092
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents consolidated financial data of the
Company for the years indicated. The selected consolidated
historical balance sheet data as of each of the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the selected consolidated
statement of operations data for each of the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 is derived from the
Company’s consolidated financial statements audited by
Deloitte & Touche LLP which are included herein. The select-
ed consolidated historical balance sheet data as of each of the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 and the
selected consolidated statement of operations data for each of
the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 is derived from
the Company’s consolidated financial statements audited by
Deloitte & Touche LLP which are not included herein. The
Company’s selected historical results of operations include:

o the results from the additional 23% interest in the Mt. Holly
facility since the Company acquired it in April 2000;

o the results from the 80% interest in the Hawesville facility

since the Company acquired it in April 2001;

o

the results from the remaining 20% interest in the
Hawesville facility since the Company acquired it in
April 2003;

o

the results from the Nordural fucility since the Company
acquired it in April 2004; and

-]

the Company’s equity in the earnings of GAL and SABL
since the Company acquired a 50% joint venture interest
in those companies in October 2004,

Accordingly, the results for those periods and prior periods
are not fully comparable to the results of operations for fiscal
vear 2004 and are not indicative of the Company’s current
business. The information set forth below should be read in
conjunction with “Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ and “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” and notes thereto.

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 (9 200374 2002 20012 200011
Statement of Operations Data:
Net sales ~— third party customers $ 897,538 $ 660,593 $ 603,744 $ 343,453 $ 299,277
Net sales — related parties 163,209 121,886 107,594 111,469 129,320
Total net sales 1,060,747 782,479 711,338 654,922 428,597
Cost of goods sold 884,273 734,441 691,277 £34,214 396.139
Gross profit 176,474 48,038 20,061 20,708 32,458
Selling, general and administrative expenses 24,916 20,833 15,783 18,598 13931
Operating income 151,558 27,205 4,278 2,110 18,527
Gain on sale of fabricating businesses — — — — 3,156
Interest expense — third party (39,940) (41,209) (40,813) (31.565) (408)
Interest expense — related parties (380) (2,579 — — —
Interest income 1,086 339 392 891 2,675
Loss on early extinguishment of debr ™ (47,448) — — — —
Other income (expense) (1,305) (688) (1,843) 2.392 6.461
Net gain (loss) on forward contracts ¢ (21,521) 25,691 — (203) 4,193
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority
interest, equity in earnings of joint venture
and cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle 42,044 8.699 {(37,986) (26.17%) 36.606
Income tax benefit (expense) (14,894) (2,841) 14,126 8.534 (11,301
Income (loss) before minority interest, equity
in earnings of joint venture and cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle 27,150 5,858 (23,860) (17,641) 25,305
Minority interest — 986 5,252 3939 —
Equity in earnings of joint venture ® 821 — — — —




Year Ended December 31, ) 0
|
[

(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 (6) 2003 (4 2002 2001 (2 2000V
Income (loss) before cumulative effect m
of change in accounting principle 27,971 6,844 (18,608) (13,702) 25,305 bl
Cumulative effect of change in accounting : [
principle, net of tax benefit of $3,430® — (5.878) — — — i
Net income (loss) 27,971 966 (18,608) (13,702) 25,305 I
Preferred dividends (769) (2,000) (2,000) (1,500) — i
Net income (loss) applicable P =
to common shareholders $ 27,202 $ (1,039 $ (20,608) $ (15,202) $ 25,305 i 2
|7
Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share: i Z
Basic: ! 3

Income (loss) before cumulative effect

of change in accounting principle $ 0.95 $ 023 $ (10O $ 074 $ 1.25 -
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle — (0.28) — — —
Net income (loss) $ 0.95 $  0.05) $ (1.00) $ 074 $ 1.25
Diluted:
Income (loss) before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle $ 0.95 $ 0.23 $ Q.00 $ 07D $ 1.24
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle — (0.28) — ' — —
Net income (loss) S 0.95 $ (0.0 $ (1.00) $ 07D $ 1.24
Dividends Per Common Share $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.15 $ 0.20 $ 0.20
December 31,
(In thousands) 2004 6 (&) 2003 (05 2002 2001 @ 200071

Balance Sheet Data (at period end):
Working capital $ (103,367) $ 78,534 $ 94,618 $ 62,312 $ 76,701

Intangible asset — power contract-net 86,809 99,136 119,744 146,002 —
Total assets 1,330,870 810,326 765,167 776,706 333,770
Long-term debt 330,711 336,310 321,852 321,446 —
Total noncurrent liabilities 560,595 513,758 453,011 441,329 74,511
Total shareholders’ equity 382,817 187,697 192,132 217,185 202,639

(1) On April 1, 2000, the Company purchased an additional 23% interest in the Mt. Holly facility from Xstrata. an affiliate of Glencore, increasing the Company's ownership interest 10 49.7%.
Accordingly, the results of operations following that date reflect the increased production which resulted from that purchase. Similarly, balance sheet data as of and following December 31,
2000 includes the assets and liabilities related to the additional 23% interest in the Mt. Holly facility.

(2) On April 1, 2001, the Company purchased the Hawesville facility from Southwire Company. Simultaneously, the Company effectively sold a 20% interest in the Hawesville facility 1o
Glencore. Accordingly. the resulis of operations following thar date reflect the increased production which resulted from Century's 80% interest. Similarly. balance sheet data as of and
following December 31, 2001 includes assets and liabilities related to the Company’s 80% interest in the Hawesville facility.

(3) On January 1. 2001, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ("SFAS") No, 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” and related
amendiments. As a result, (o the extent that the Company's derivatives are designated as effective cash flow hedges, unrealized gains (losses) are reported as accumulated other
comprehensive income, rather than reported in the Statement of Operaiions as was done in 2000. Beginning in 2001, realized gains (losses) resulting from effective cash flow hedges are
reporied as adjustments 1o net sales and cost of goods sold

4

hos

In April 2003, the Company purchased Glencore's 20% interest in the Hawesville facility. Accordingly, the results of operations following that date reflect the increase
resulted from Century’s additional 20% interest in the Hawesville facility. ¢
Company's additional 20% interest in the Hawesville facility.

1 production which
milarly, balance sheet data as of and following December 31, 2003 includes assets and liabilities related to the

5

2

With the adoption of SFAS No. 143. "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” on January 1, 2003, Century recorded an asset retirement obligation ("ARO™) asset of $6.848, net of
accumulated amortization of $7,372, a Deferred Tax Asset of $3,430 and an ARO liability of $14,220. The net amount initially recognized as a result of applying the Suatement is reported
as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The Company recorded a one-iime, non-cash charge of $5.878, for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

©
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In April 2004. the Company purchased the Nordural facility. Accordingly, the resulls of operations following that date reflect the increased production which resulted from that purchase.
Similarly, balance sheet data as of and following December 31, 2004 includes the assets and liabilities related to the interest in the Nordural facility.

@

e

In August 2004, the Company refinanced $325.0 million of its senior secured first mortgage notes due 2008 with the proceeds from a private placement of $250.0 million of 7.5% senior
unsecured notes due 2014 and $175.0 million of convertible senior notes due 2024. The Company recorded a loss of $47.4 million for the one-time cost of tendering these notes.

(8) In October 2004, the Company, together with Noranda, completed the joint purchase of the Grumercy, Louisiana alumina refinery owned by Kaiser and Kaiser's 49% imerest in a Jamaican
bauxite mining parmership. The Company uses the equity method of accounting for its investment in the joint venture. Accordingly, the results of operations following that date reflect the
Company's equity in the joint venture income. Similarly, balance sheet data as of and following December 31, 2004 includes assets related to the Company’s interest in the joint venture.
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This annual report to shareholders contains forward-looking
statements. Century has based these statements on current
expectations and projections about future events. Many of
these statements may be identified by the use of forward-

looking words such as “expects,” "anticipates,” “plans,”

“believes,” “projects,” “estimates,” and “potential” und
variations of such words, These forward-looking statements
are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions including.
among other things, those discussed in the company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Although Century believes the expectations reflected in its
forward-looking statements are reasonable, the company can-
not guarantee its future performance or results of operations.
All forward-looking statements in this report are based on
information available to the company on the date of this
report; however, Century is not obligated to update or revise
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. The risks described
here should he considered when reading any forward-look-
ing statements in this report. Given these uncertainties and
risks, the reader should not place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements,



CORPORATE
INFORMATION

Corporate Headquarters
Century Aluminum Company
2511 Garden Road
Monterey, CA 93940

Inquiries

Shareholders, security analysts, investors and others
may contact the company at the above address or as
indicated below:

In the United States
Toll Free 1-888-642-9300

Qutside the United States,
Call Collect 1-831-642-9300

Website: www.centuryaluminum.com

Documents Available
The Annual Report Form 10-K filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission and the company’s Code of Ethics

are available without charge upon request. Write

or contact our corporate secretary at the addresses or tele-

phone numbers above.

Electronic versions of these documents also are
available on the company’s website.

Stock Transfer Agent
Computershare Investor Services LLC
2 North La Salle Street

Chicago, IL 60602

Telephone 312-360-5375

Fax 312-601-4335

Graphic Design: E. W. Greco & Associates. Carmel-by-the-Sea, California
Principal Photography: Gunnar Svanberg Skdlason, Reykjuvik. [celand
Additional Photography: Mark Perrott, Pittsburgh. PA

Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm
Deloitte & Touche LLP
2500 One PPG Place
Pittsburgh, PA 15222

Stock Trading Information
Century Aluminum common stock is traded on the
NASDAQ. The ticker symbol is CENX.

2004 High Low
First Quarter $ 2970 $ 1915
Second Quarter 29.40 18.64
Third Quarter 28.00 21.70
Fourth Quarter 29.10 22.42
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